
Summons to Meeting

Monday 10 September 2018

Development Panel
Tuesday 18 September 2018, 1.00 pm

Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington
Membership:

Councillor Peter Bales (Chair) Councillor Billy Miskelly (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Carole Armstrong
Councillor Nicky Cockburn Councillor Janet Farebrother
Councillor Malcolm Grainger Councillor Mark Jenkinson
Councillor Ron Munby Councillor Jim Osborn
Councillor Bill Pegram Councillor David Wilson

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Gayle Roach on 01900 702502.

Agenda
Site Visit  
The following site visit will take place:

2/2018/0292 - Land at Church Street, Workington, Cumbria - Proposed mixed use 
development consisting of a hotel (Use Class C1) with associated coffee shop (Class 
A3) unit and public house/restaurant (Use Class A3/A4), along with associated 
access, parking, landscaping, drainage and ancillary works.

Members of the Development Panel to have window view of the application site 
2/2018/0292 from the Solway Meeting Room, second floor Allerdale House, 
Workington. Members can view the site from the window between 12.30pm and 
12.45pm in advance of Panel meeting commencing at 1pm.

1. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 18)
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 21 August 2018.

Page 1



2. Apologies for Absence  

3. Declaration of Interests  
Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct.

4. Questions  
To answer questions from Councillors and members of the public – submitted in 
writing or by electronic mail no later than 5.00pm, 2 working days before the 
meeting.

5. 2.2018.0292 - Proposed mixed use development consisting of a hotel (Use 
Class C1) with associated coffee shop (Class A3) unit and public 
house/restaurant (Use Class A3/A4), along with associated access, 
parking, landscaping, drainage and ancillary wo  (Pages 19 - 58)

6. 2.2018.0238 - Erection of rural workers dwelling to replace existing 
residential caravan - Moorside Farm, Blooming Heather, Dearham, Mayport  
(Pages 59 - 70)

7. HOU.2018.0161 - Replacement windows - 43, Curzon Street, Maryport  
(Pages 71 - 78)

Chief Executive

Date of Next Meeting:

Tuesday 16 October 2018, 1.00 pm
Council Chamber, Allerdale House

Page 2



At a meeting of the Development Panel held in Council Chamber - Allerdale House, 
Workington on Tuesday 21 August 2018 at 1.00 pm

Members

Councillor Peter Bales (Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Carole Armstrong
Councillor Nicky Cockburn Councillor Janet Farebrother
Councillor Malcolm Grainger Councillor Mark Jenkinson
Councillor Ron Munby Councillor Jim Osborn
Councillor Bill Pegram Councillor Philip Tibble
Councillor David Wilson

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Billy Miskelly 

Staff Present

B Carlin, S Long, G Roach, A Seekings and S Sharp

136. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 24 July 2018 were signed as a correct 
record.

137. Declaration of Interests 

None declared.

138. Questions 

None received.

139. 2/2018/0096 - Former Police Station, Eaglesfield Street, Maryport - Outline 
application for conversion of former police station and court into 7 
apartments, demolition of store to erect 1 bungalow and demolition of 
former stable garage 

Representations

Josie Farmer spoke in objection to the application.

Councillor Peter Kendall spoke in objection to the application on behalf of 
Maryport Town Council.

The applicant’s agent, Femi Santos spoke in support of the application.

Application

The report recommended that the decision to grant permission subject to 
conditions be delegated to the Head of Place Development upon the expiration 
of the statutory publicity period.

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



The report outlined the application and detailed the main issues within the 
report as follows:

 Principle of development

The proposal would see the re-use of existing vacant buildings within a 
Key Service Centre and a viable re-use for this heritage asset within the 
Maryport Conservation Area. Residential use would be compatible with 
the surrounding area. As such, the principle of the development is 
considered to be acceptable. 

 Heritage assets

The conversion of this existing building, which has both architectural and 
historic value in its own right as well as making a positive contribution to 
the Maryport Conservation Area is supported by national and local policy. 
The partial demolition of outbuildings will have some adverse impact on 
the significance of the heritage assets of the Conservation Area and the 
listed buildings adjacent on Fleming Square. This harm is considered to 
be less than substantial and would be outweighed by the public benefits 
of securing the re-use of the building overall and by providing additional 
housing within this Key Service Centre, where the delivery of new 
housing in the current plan period has been very limited. 

 Sustainability, access and parking

The proposal is considered to be within a highly sustainable location and, 
whilst no provision is made for off-street parking, this is not considered to 
be sufficiently detrimental to result in an unacceptable impact on highway 
safety, and the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would 
not be severe.

 Residential amenity
The proposal is considered to retain the residential amenity of 
neighbouring properties to an acceptable level in accordance with Policy 
S32 of the ALP (Part 1). Whilst it is accepted that the form of the new 
build will result in a change in the outlook from 4 William Street in 
particular, the outlook from this property is already impinged to a large 
degree by the presence of the stable building. Whilst the eaves height 
will increase, the footprint will reduce, thereby altering the outlook from 
this property but not resulting in a significant adverse impact over and 
above that which exists at present.

 Mix of housing

Having regard to the revised guidance within the NPPF, it is not 
considered appropriate to seek any affordable housing units as part of 
this proposal. 

 Ecology

Page 4



The application site is considered to offer some potential for use by bats, 
however this potential is considered to be low. An advisory note has 
been added, should Members be minded to approve the application, 
which provides advice in relation to this species and the need for a 
License from Natural England, should bats be found. 

 Tilted balance

The benefits of providing a meaningful supply of housing derived from 
bringing a vacant heritage asset within a conservation area back into use 
significantly outweigh the adverse impacts when assessed against the 
provisions of the Local Plan and NPPF taken as a whole.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report. 

Following member discussion, and the questions raised to the speakers, having 
concurred with the weighting of policy and material considerations detailed in 
the report, Councillor N Cockburn moved that the application be approved as 
per the officer’s recommendation. This was seconded by Councillor M Grainger.

Councillor J Farebrother moved an amendment to the motion, to stipulate that 
one of the small apartments be made in to an affordable housing dwelling. 
There was no seconder to the motion therefore the motion was lost.

A vote was taken on the motion for approval as per the officer’s 
recommendation, 12 voted in favour. The motion was carried.

Resolution 

The decision to grant permission subject to conditions be delegated to the Head 
of Place Development upon the expiration of the statutory publicity period. 

Conditions

1. Before any development commences details of the landscaping of 
the site(hereinafter called 'reserved matters') shall be submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: The application has been submitted as an outline application, in 
accordance with the provisions of the details of the Town and Country 
Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2015.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 
accordance with the following plans:
Amended Dwg PL-01-100-B Proposed Ground Floor Plan 19-7-18
Amended Dwg PL-02-100-B Proposed First Floor Plan 19-7-18
Amended Dwg PL-03-100-B Proposed Roof Plan 19-7-18
Amended Dwg PL-04-100-B Proposed South Elevation 19-7-18
Amended Dwg PL-05-100-B Proposed East Elevation 19-7-18
Amended Dwg PL-06-100-B Proposed East Elevation Detail 19-7-18
EX-01-100-Site Plan

Page 5



Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in 
complete accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-
material alterations to the scheme are properly considered.

3. The submission of all reserved matters applications shall be made 
no later than the expiration of 3 years beginning with the date of 
this permission and the development shall begin no later  than 
whichever is the later of the following dates:
(a) The expiration of 3 years from the date of the grant of this 
permission, or 
(b) The expiration of 2 years from the final approval of the 
reserved matters or, in the case of approval on different dates, the 
final approval of the last such matter to be approved.

Reason: In order to comply with Sections 91 and 92 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990.

4. No development shall take place until a Construction and 
Demolition Method Statement has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The statement shall 
include the following:
(a) Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with 
the development, including site and staff traffic, off site parking, 
turning and compound areas;
(b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from 
the construction and demolition and to monitor any properties at 
risk of damage from vibration, as well as taking into account noise 
from vehicles, deliveries. All measurements should make reference 
to BS7445.
(c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential 
properties from construction compounds including visual impact, 
noise, and light pollution.
(d) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
construction or demolition;
(e) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during 
construction and demolition (including any wheel washing 
facilities);
(f) Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase;
(g) Hours of working and deliveries;
(h) Details of lighting to be used on site.
(i)      Highway signage / Haulage routes 
The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the 
duration of the development.

Reason:  In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties during the construction works of the 
development hereby approved, in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014 and in the interests of highway safety.

Page 6



5. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be constructed 
above ground floor level until details and representative samples of 
all external and roofing materials have been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall 
be constructed in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development for the 
external appearance of the approved scheme which is compatible with 
the character of the surrounding area, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

6. Before any part of the development hereby approved is constructed 
above ground floor level, a plan shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority indicating details of all external windows, 
dormer windows and doors, including cross sections of glazing 
bars, to a scale of not less than 1:20. The works shall be 
implemented solely in accordance with the approved window and 
door details.

Reason:  To ensure that the external appearance of the building / 
structure is acceptable, in compliance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policy DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014.

7. Notwithstanding the submitted plans, details of the siting, height 
and type of all means of enclosure (including boundary treatment 
and bin store) shall be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the occupation of any dwelling(s). Any 
such means of enclosure shall be constructed as approved prior to 
the development  being brought into use. All means of enclosure so 
constructed shall be retained and no part thereof shall be removed 
without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is 
compatible with the character of the surrounding area and safeguard the 
amenity of neighbouring properties.

8. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised within the subsequently 
approved landscaping scheme (reserved matter) shall be carried 
out in the first planting season following completion of the 
development and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 
years from the completion of the development die, are removed or 
become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the 
next planting season with other similar size and species, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and 
minimise the impact of the development in the locality.

9. Prior to the carrying out of any construction works the existing 
buildings affected by the proposed development shall be recorded 

Page 7



in accordance with a Level 2 survey as described in English 
Heritage's document 'Understanding Historic Buildings A Guide to 
Good Recording Practice, 2016'. Within two months of the 
commencement of construction works three copies of the resultant 
Level 2 survey report shall be furnished to the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason:  To ensure that a permanent record is made of the existing 
buildings of architectural and historic interest prior to their alteration as 
part of the proposed development in accordance with Policy S27 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.

10. The demolition works hereby approved shall not be implemented 
until a contract has been granted for the delivery of the 
redevelopment of the site under this planning consent.

Reason: To ensure the delivery of the development preserves and 
enhances the existing environment of the site and its character and 
setting within the Conservation Area, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policies S4 and S27 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

11. The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use 
until the designated police parking bays to Eaglesfield Street have 
been removed and replaced with public on street parking spaces.

Reason: To ensure the removal of a redundant parking restrictions 
arising from the change of use hereby approved and the provision of 
additional public parking on street.

12. Notwithstanding the plans approved under condition 2, the rear wall 
of Houses 1 and 2 hereby approved shall be constructed in stone 
and not render. No part of Houses 1 and 2 shall be constructed 
above ground floor level until a 1m square free-standing panel of 
the facing stonework to be used in the rear wall of these two 
houses has been constructed on the site and the materials 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. The panel shall be 
retained on site until such times as the development is completed. 
The development shall thereafter be solely implemented in 
accordance with the approved sample materials.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development for the 
external appearance of the approved scheme which is compatible with 
the setting of the adjacent listed buildings, in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S27 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

13. The development shall not be brought into use until the details and 
extent of the obscure glazing to be used within the flats and houses 
as shown on the approved plans hereby approved have been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority and the 
obscure glazing has been installed as approved. The obscure 

Page 8



glazing shall thereafter be retained as approved, and shall not be 
removed or replaced without the prior written consent of the Local 
Planning Authority.

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory standard of development for 
future occupiers and to protect the residential amenity of existing 
neighbours, in accordance with policies S4, S32 and DM14 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.

14. The obscure glazed windows to the front elevation of House 1 
hereby approved, shall be fixed and non-opening.

Reason: To protect the residential amenity of neighbouring residents, in 
accordance with policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.

140. 2/2018/0275 - Land at Borriskill, Ellenborough, Maryport - Outline planning 
permission for the erection of a dwelling with all matters reserved 

Representations

Councillor Peter Kendall spoke in support of the application on behalf of 
Maryport Town Council.

The applicant’s agent, Daniel Addis spoke in support of the application.

Application

The report recommended that the application be refused.

The report outlined the application and detailed the main issues within the 
report as follows:

 Principle

The application site is located in the open countryside outside the 
defined settlement limit. The proposed dwelling represents an 
inappropriate form of development in the open countryside contrary to 
the provisions of Policy S3 and S33 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1).

 Access

The site is served off a private lane which is part restricted in width and 
has little in the way of suitable construction. The access lane would also 
require capping to mitigate against previous coal mining activities.

 Drainage

It is considered that drainage details can be adequately controlled by 
condition.

 Character and appearance 

Page 9



It is considered the proposed development will not adversely affect the 
amenities of the occupiers of nearby residential properties but; 

 Tilted balance

The adverse impacts of permitting the development in this poorly 
accessible unsustainable countryside location with significant harm to the 
landscape and visual amenity would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefit of providing just one dwelling, when assessed 
against the policies in the Local Plan 2014 and the NPPF 2018 taken as 
a whole. 

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report. 

Following careful consideration by all members of the speakers’ comments and 
member discussion, having concurred with the weighting of policy and material 
considerations detailed in the report, Councillor J Farebrother moved that the 
application be refused as per the officer’s recommendation. This was seconded 
by Councillor C Armstrong.

A vote was taken on the motion for refusal as per the officer’s recommendation.  
10 voted in favour, 1 voted against and 1 abstained from voting. The motion 
was carried.

Resolution 

Refused 

Reasons for refusal

1. The application site is located in a distinctive rural fringe within an open 
countryside setting, with the local bridleway infrastructure network 
providing a definitive physical boundary to the high density built form of 
the urban residential estates on the eastern perimeter of Maryport’s 
settlement. The development would introduce a detrimental alien form 
within the existing site’s open natural environment which is visible from 
the Public Bridleway 226015. It therefore will neither enhance nor restore 
the existing landscape character. The development is considered to have 
an adverse effect on the landscape, eroding the distinctive features, 
identity and rural character of its locality and would be an incongruous 
development in this rural locality. The site is not considered to be well 
related to the built environment and would extend into the open 
countryside. As such it is contrary to policies S1, S2, S32 and S33 of the 
adopted Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 – 2014 and the provisions of the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2018.

2. Public Bridleway 226015 is a sensitive visual receptor and the 
development is considered, as a result of its proximity to this receptor 
and alien form within the landscape, to be detrimental to the enjoyment 
and visual amenity value derived from this public right of way. As such 
the development is contrary to policies S1, S2, S32 adopted Allerdale 

Page 10



Local Plan Part 1 – 2014 and the provisions of the National Planning 
Policy Framework 2018.

3. The development represents an unsustainable form of development due 
to the reliance for access via an unmade, unlit track and, as a result, 
there would be an unsustainable reliance on car-borne journeys to 
access services and facilities contrary to policies S1 and S2 of the 
adopted Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 – 2014 and the provisions of the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2018.

141. HOU/2018/0159 - 108 Sycamore Road, Maryport - Two storey side 
extension to create garage and additional living accommodation 

Representations

Janet Clarke spoke in objection to the application.

Councillor Peter Kendall spoke against the application on behalf of Maryport 
Town Council.

The applicants Steven Fisher and Elizabeth Fye spoke in support of the 
application.

Application

The report recommended that the application be approved.

The report outlined the application and detailed the main issues within the 
report as follows:

 Design

The proposal is of an appropriate design for the application site and 
surrounding area

 Residential amenity

The single story element to the rear would not require planning 
permission in its own right and this is afforded weight as a material 
consideration. The two storey side extension is of similar scale and 
design to other two storey side extensions on this part of the street 
scene.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report. 

Following questions raised to the speakers, consideration of all relevant matters 
and discussion, members concurred with the weighting of policies and material 
considerations in the report, Councillor M Grainger moved that the application 
be approved as per the officer’s recommendation. This was seconded by 
Councillor R Munby.

Page 11



A vote was taken on the motion for approval as per the officer’s 
recommendation.  11 voted in favour and 1 voted against. The motion was 
carried.

Resolution 

Approve subject to conditions

Conditions/Reasons

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance 
with the following plans:
DRG NO SF-16-7-18 - Block Plan and Location Plan 
DRG NO SF-16-7-18 - Existing and Proposed Elevations, Floor Plans, 
Sections

Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material 
alterations to the scheme are properly considered.

3. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the bathroom 
window at first floor level within the south facing elevation has been fitted 
with obscure glazing. The obscure glazing shall thereafter be retained and 
maintained for the lifetime of the development

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity, in accordance with policy 
S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan, Part 1, Adopted July 2014.

142. 2/2018/0214 - Land at Abbey Road, Abbeytown - Outline consent for 
erection of dwellinghouses 

Application

The report recommended that the decision to grant permission subject to 
conditions be delegated to the Head of Place Development upon the expiration 
of the statutory publicity period and the completion and signing of a S106 
agreement that delivers the equivalent of 25% of the homes as Affordable 
(within the definition of the National Planning Policy Framework 2018), such 
delivery being in the form of a minimum of one on-site discounted affordable 
ownership home (max of 70% of OMV) and the remaining requirement 
comprising of a financial contribution towards off site affordable housing within 
the Borough.

The report outlined the application and detailed the main issues within the 
report as follows:

Page 12



 Principle of design

Abbeytown acts as a Local Service Centre in the settlement hierarchy 
under Policy S3 of the Allerdale Local Plan. The site occupies a central, 
sustainable location within the village.

 Relationship to its surroundings

This area of open land is surrounded on all four of its boundaries by 
existing residential development; therefore it is considered to be a 
sustainable site, well related to the built environment of the settlement

 Highway considerations

The site is served by a single vehicular access onto Abbey Road 
(B5307). The highway authority raises no objections to the proposed 
details subject to highway conditions.

 Affordable housing

The applicant is agreeable to secure 25% of the sites housing under a 
s106 legal agreement.

 Landscape

The Council have protected the two mature oak trees sited on the 
western boundary of the site. The site, by virtue of its enclosed location 
in the village, would not have an adverse impact on the surrounding 
landscape.

 Tilted balance

Substantial weight is afforded to the benefits of delivering this mix of 
housing types which make a meaningful contribution to the Council’s 
need and growth strategy identified in the 2014 Local Plan. These 
benefits outweigh the limited adverse impacts arising from the 
development.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report. 

Following member discussion and careful consideration of all relevant policies 
and considerations, Councillor N Cockburn moved that the application be 
approved as per the officer’s recommendation. This was seconded by 
Councillor D Wilson.

A vote was taken on the motion for approval as per the officer’s 
recommendation.  10 voted in favour and 2 voted against. The motion was 
carried.

Resolution 

Page 13



That the decision to grant permission subject to conditions be delegated to the 
Head of Place Development upon the expiration of the statutory publicity period 
and the completion and signing of a S106 agreement that delivers the 
equivalent of 25% of the homes as Affordable (within the definition of the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2018), such delivery being in the form of a 
minimum of one on-site discounted affordable ownership home (max of 70% of 
OMV) and the remaining requirement comprising of a financial contribution 
towards off site affordable housing within the Borough. 

Conditions/Reasons

1. Before any works commence, details of the layout, scale and 
appearance, access and landscaping (hereinafter called 'reserved 
matters') shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: The application has been submitted as an outline application, in 
accordance with the provisions of the details of the Town and Country 
Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2015. 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 
accordance with the following plans:

       5640-001 - Location plan 
       5640-002 Rev B (amendment 26/07/18)
       Amended e-mail dated
       

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory standard of development.

3. The submission of all reserved matters applications shall be made 
no later than the expiration of 3 years beginning with the date of 
this permission and the development shall begin no later than 
whichever is the later of the following dates: 
a) The expiration of three years from the date of the grant of this 
permission, or
b) The expiration of two years from the final approval of the 
'reserved matters' or, in the case of approval on different dates, the 
final approval of the last such matter to be approved.

Reason: In order to comply with Sections 91 and 92 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990.

4.     The development hereby approved is for a maximum of 15 
dwellings.

Reason: This is considered the maximum number of dwellings that can 
be accommodated on site to reflect the prevailing densities in the area, 
preserve residential amenity and the amenity value of the trees protected 
by the Tree Preservation Order and to accord with policies S32 and S33 
of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.

5. Provision shall be made in the submission of any 'reserved matters' 
application for parking spaces for each individual dwelling house. 

Page 14



In compliance with the parking standards within the County 
Councils Cumbria Design Guide 

Reason: To ensure that a minimum standard of off-street parking 
provision is made for the development and in the interests of highway 
safety, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 2018 
and Policy S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan(Part 1) 2014.

6. The carriageway, footways and footpaths shall be designed, 
drained and lit to a standard suitable for adoption and in this 
respect further details, including longitudinal/cross sections, shall 
be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval before 
any part of the development hereby permitted is commenced. No 
work shall be commenced until a full specification has been 
approved. These details shall be in accordance with the standards 
laid down in the current Cumbria Design Guide. Any works so 
approved shall be constructed before the development is 
completed.

Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests 
of highway safety.

7. The development shall not be commence until visibility splays 
providing clear visibility of 43 measured along the nearside channel 
line of the B5307 public road from a position 2.4metres inset from 
the carriageway edge, on the centre line of the prospective access 
road, at a height of 1.05metres, have been provided. 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking 
and re-enacting that Order) relating to permitted development, no 
development, trees, bushes or other plants which exceed 1m in 
height shall be planted or be permitted to grow within the visibility 
splay which obstruct the visibility splays.

Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of highway access, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 2018 and 
Policy S4 and S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan(Part 1) 2014.

8.    Prior to the occupation of the development, a surface water 
drainage scheme   based on the hierarchy of drainage options in 
the National Planning Practice Guidance with evidence of an 
assessment of the site conditions (inclusive of how the scheme 
shall be managed after completion) shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The surface 
water drainage scheme must be in accordance with the Non-
Statutory technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems 
(March 2015) or any subsequent replacement national standards 
and unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, no surface water shall discharge to the public sewerage 
system either directly or indirectly. The development shall be 
completed, maintained and managed in accordance with the 
approved details.

Page 15



Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage 
and to manage the risk of flooding and pollution.

9. No development approved by this permission shall commence until 
a desktop study has been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. Should the preliminary risk assessment identify 
any potential contamination which may affect human health, 
controlled waters or the wider environment, all necessary site 
investigation works within the site boundary must be carried out to 
establish the degree and nature of the contamination and its 
potential to pollute the environment or cause harm to human health. 
The scope of works for the site investigations should be agreed 
with the Local Planning Authority prior to their commencement.

Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination 
from the development to the local environment in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2018 and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.

10. Should land affected by contamination be identified under the desk 
top study under condition 9 be found which poses unacceptable 
risks to human health, controlled waters or the wider environment, 
no development shall take place until a detailed remediation 
scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme must include an appraisal of 
remediation options, identification of the preferred option(s), the 
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, and a 
description and programme of the works to be undertaken 
including the verification plan.

Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination 
from the development to the local environment in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2018 and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1).2014

11. Should a contamination remediation scheme be required under 
condition 10, the approved strategy shall be implemented and a 
verification report submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority, prior to the development (or relevant 
phase of development) being brought into use.

Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination 
from the development to the local environment in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy EN9 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Saved).

12. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying 
out the approved development that was not previously identified it 
must be reported immediately to the Local Planning Authority. 
Development on the part of the site affected must be halted and a 
risk assessment carried out and submitted to and approved in 

Page 16



writing by the Local Planning Authority. Where unacceptable risks 
are found remediation and verification schemes shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These 
shall be implemented prior to the development (or relevant phase of 
development) being brought into use. All works shall be undertaken 
in accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11.

Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination 
from the development to the local environment in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2018 and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.

13. No development shall take place until a Construction and 
Demolition Method Statement has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The statement shall 
include the following:
(a) Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with 

the development, including the parking and turning facilities 
and off-street compound staff traffic;

(b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from 
the construction and demolition and to monitor any 
properties at risk of damage from vibration, as well as taking 
into account noise from vehicles, deliveries. All 
measurements should make reference to BS7445.

(c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential 
properties from construction compounds including visual 
impact, noise, and light pollution.

(d) Mitigation measures to ensure that no harm is caused to 
protected species during construction.

(e) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
construction or demolition;

(f) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during 
construction and demolition;

(g) Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase;
       (h) Hours of working and deliveries;
        (i) Details of lighting to be used on site.

The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the 
duration of the development.

Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring 
properties, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
2018 and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan, (Part 1) 2014.

14. No development shall commence within the site until the applicant 
has secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological 
work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which 
has been submitted by the applicant and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The written scheme of investigation will 
include the following components:

     a)   An archaeological evaluation;
b)  An archaeological recording programme, the scope of which    

Page 17



      will be dependent upon the results of the evaluation.
c) Where appropriate, a post-excavation assessment and 

analysis, preparation of a sitearchive ready for deposition at a 
store approved by the Local Planning Authority, completion of an 
archive report, and submission of the results for publication in a 
suitable journal.

Reason: To afford reasonable opportunity for an examination to be made 
to determine the existence of any remains of archaeological interest 
within the site and for the examination and recording of such remains.

15. Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems.

Reason: To secure proper drainage and manage the risk of flooding and 
pollution

16. Prior to occupation of the development a sustainable drainage 
management  and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the 
development shall be submitted to the local planning authority and 
agreed in writing. The sustainable drainage management and 
maintenance plan shall include as a minimum: 
a. Arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or 
statutory undertaker, or, management and maintenance by a 
resident’s management company; and 
b. Arrangements for inspection and ongoing maintenance of all 
elements of the sustainable drainage system to secure the 
operation of the surface water drainage scheme throughout its 
lifetime. 
The development shall subsequently be completed, maintained and 
managed in accordance with the approved plan. 

Reason: To ensure that management arrangements are in place for the 
sustainable drainage system in order to manage the risk of flooding and 
pollution during the lifetime of the development.

17. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced 
until a plan    has been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority to show all existing trees which are to be felled 
or retained, together with the positions and height of protective 
fences, the areas for the storage of materials and stationing of 
machines and huts, and the position and width of temporary site 
roads and accesses. The details so approved shall be implemented 
prior to the commencement of the development and maintained at 
all times during the construction period.

Reason: In order to ensure that adequate protection is afforded to the 
existing trees on the site prior to any excavation/construction works on 
the site.

The meeting closed at 3.32 pm

Page 18



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application 2/2018/0292

Proposed 
Development:

Proposed mixed use development consisting of a hotel (Use Class 
C1) with associated coffee shop (Class A3) unit and public 
house/restaurant (Use Class A3/A4), along with associated 
access, parking, landscaping, drainage and ancillary works

Location: Land at
Church Street
Workington

Applicant: Hinton Properties & Marston Estates

Recommendation: Grant permission subject to conditions 

Summary/Key Issues

Issue Conclusion

Principle of the 
development 

The application site occupies a sustainable location on the 
strategic highway network which is well related to the town’s built 
environment  
The principle of the development is therefore considered 
acceptable.

Sequential test/ 
impact on the town 
centre

Evidence has been provided on alternative sites elsewhere in the 
town, but by virtue of their size or availability, none are suitable to 
meet the needs of the proposed development.

Highway 
considerations

The highway authority considers the revised amendments are 
acceptable subject to conditions. The proposal has good links to 
the public transport network. The proposal is therefore considered 
to be a good sustainable location for transport in compliance with 
Policy S22 of the Allerdale local plan

Drainage /Flood risk 
considerations

The drainage details have been amended to the satisfaction of the 
drainage stakeholder authorities. The application flood risk 
assessment and its respective mitigation measures have also 
been accepted by the Environment Agency  

Impact on heritage 
assets

Sufficient evidence has been submitted with the application to 
demonstrate that the proposed development would result in 
significant public benefits and less than substantial harm to 
designated heritage assets within the vicinity of the site in 
compliance with Policy S27 of the Allerdale Local Plan.

Public open space Under Policy S25 the development, albeit spatially absorbing the 
bulk of the site’s area, would retain, enhance and deliver a high 
quality compensatory public area which, in combination with the 
landscaping scheme of the development, would enhance the 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5



public open space/biodiversity/landscape offer to the local 
community.

Proposal

The proposal seeks full planning permission for the erection of a 78-bedroomed 
Travelodge hotel (class C1), incorporating a Costa coffee and drive unit through on its 
ground floor (class A3) and a detached Marston’s public house/restaurant (class A3/A4). 
It is sited on a 0.13ha triangular island area of public open space in between the 
highways of the A597, William Street and Church Street, Workington.
The land levels on the site would be remodelled as part of the development.
 
The proposed four storey Travelodge building is sited in the north eastern corner of the 
site, finished in a facing brick lower band supporting render/panel sections on its upper 
floors. It provides 78 bedrooms and also includes a bar/café on the ground floor.
The Costa layout plans demonstrate a 58 cover cafe located at the eastern end of the 
ground floor of the building with its drive-through carriageway looping around its northern 
side with a serving kiosk positioned in its north eastern corner.

The Marston’s two storey public house/restaurant (class A3/A4) detached building (which 
incorporates a 3 bedroom manager’s flat) is sited mid-way along the site’s northern 
perimeter adjacent to the A597. The proposal provides a 180 cover family pub/restaurant. 
The proposed building is finished in brick with a tile roof. A small children’s play area and 
beer garden is sited at the rear of the premises. The boundary would be bordered by a 
1.2m timber fence with a higher fence around the delivery compound.

The westernmost remaining triangular area of land and southern section, characterised 
by a steeper gradient, is kept as public open space. 

Vehicular access to the site is via a solitary access from William Street which serves a 
car park comprising of 154 spaces, 21 cycle spaces and 8 motorcycle spaces.  A 
footpath corridor (including traffic islands across the A597) traverses in a north–south 
direction across the site dividing the two proposed buildings. 

The proposed development would generate 50 fulltime/ part time jobs in the public 
house, 30 at the Travelodge and 15 at the Costa

The application is supported by flood risk, drainage, transport, ground condition, noise, 
lighting and archaeological survey documents. 

Site

The site is an open area of grassed public open space located on the southern side of 
the A597. The grassland undulates across the site with the land rising on its southern 
boundary. The site is void of any trees or hedgerows.
 

Page 20



The land to the north, on the opposite site of the A597, is also an area of public open 
space containing the watercourse corridor of Soapary Beck. The northern side of the 
Beck’s open space is bounded by Tesco’s retail store.
The eastern perimeter is dominated by the Council’s three storey building which is sited 
on the opposite side of William Street. A separate nursery premises is sited on the 
opposite side of the highway at the south eastern corner of the site. Church Road’s 
southern edge is fronted by dwellinghouses and bungalows with the walled grounds of 
the Rectory at its south western corner.

The site is located on the norther perimeter of the St. Michael’s Conservation Area with 
three listed buildings located within its immediate vicinity: St Michael’s Church (Grade II*) 
The Rectory (Grade II*) and Joseph Pirt and Co engineering works (Grade II).   

Relevant Planning History

There is no recent planning history to the site. The Marston’s public house scheme 
reflects Marston’s public house building (approved under reference number 2/2017/0225) 
on the vacant area of land on the northern perimeter of Tesco’s store (approx.160m north 
of the application site).

Representations  

Workington Town Council 

The Council express concerns about the economic impact of the development on local 
businesses. The Council reviewed the traffic assessment and expressed concerns about 
the impact of the drive through coffee shop on traffic, particularly as it is located on a 
busy stretch of the highway. The committee seek further assurances of these points from 
the highway authority and the panel prior to approval

Cumbria County Council (Highways and Local Lead Flood Authority)

The highway authority, in response to a revised Transport Assessment, refer to further 
minor revisions relating to: verification of the width of the A597 to accommodate its 
pedestrian island, revisions to an internal footpath, additional street lighting to Church 
Street and a tactile paving amendment at the southern edge of the site.
The highway authority therefore recommends no objections subject to highway 
conditions re; adoptable standard of highway works, visibility splays, provision of the car 
parks and accommodating construction traffic. They also request a s106 contribution of 
£6600 to monitor the Travel plan.
A revised connection to an abandoned combined public sewer is acceptable subject to a 
condition to establish its condition, use and future maintenance. 

ABC Environmental Health 

The site investigation report ref AJM/26820 is comprehensive in scope and meets the 
requirements for the phase 1 and phase 2 contaminated land investigations.

Page 21



Point 2.3.3 of the applicant’s report refers to the environmental setting. However, local 
knowledge suggests that a scrap metal business operated within the boundary of the 
proposed development. This will merit further investigation. 
Reference is made to the proximity of dwellings with restricted hours on the operation at 
the site. Seek the lighting to be in accordance with the approved details.

Fire Officer 

No objections to the development. Recommend consideration of a fire sprinkler system 
and other automated systems to improve fire safety and the rapid suppression of fires. 
Such benefits outweigh within the installation costs of a new sprinkler system. 

Environment Agency 

Refer to the site being located on a secondary local aquifer. No objections subject to 
conditions in relation to contaminated land.

Advise the submitted FRA has been assessed and that the development will not be at an 
unacceptable risk of flooding or exacerbate flood risk elsewhere. Seek the development 
to be developed solely in accordance with the mitigation measures in the submitted FRA

County Archaeologist 

Initially advised “Our records indicate that the site lies in an area of archaeological 
potential. This area of Workington is shown to have been developed on an historic plan 
dated 1569. It is likely that the site was occupied at a much earlier date than this given 
the close proximity to St Michael’s Church, which is known to have origins from at least 
the 8th century. By the mid-19th century, historic maps show that the site contained 
houses and small-scale industries. It is therefore considered that the construction of the 
proposed development has the potential to disturb buried archaeological assets dating 
from the medieval and post medieval periods. Site lies within an area of archaeological 
potential, buried industrial archaeological assets of local importance relating to the West 
Cumberland Iron and Steel Works est. 1860. Request conditions for archaeological 
investigation and recording. “
In response the applicant submitted an archaeological survey which prompted the 
additional reply:-
“The applicant has helpfully commissioned an archaeological desk-based assessment of 
the site. The results show that this part of Workington formed part of the late medieval 
town and, by the mid-19th century, it contained houses and small-scale industries. 
Despite being cleared in the latter half of the 20th century, it is considered that the site 
has the potential to contain buried archaeological assets dating from the medieval and 
post medieval periods. Any such assets that do survive will be disturbed by the 
construction of the proposed development.”
Recommend an archaeological evaluation be undertaken in advance of the works under 
an archaeological planning condition.

Natural England 

No comments or assessment on the application in terms of protected species - refer to 
their standing advice the proposal. The lack of comment from Natural England does not 

Page 22



imply that there are no impacts on the natural environment, but only that the application 
is not likely to result in significant impacts on statutory designated nature conservation 
sites or landscapes. It is for the local planning authority to determine whether or not this 
application is consistent with national and local policies on the natural environment. Other 
bodies and individuals may be able to provide information and advice on the 
environmental value of this site and the impacts of the proposal to assist the decision 
making process. We advise LPAs to obtain specialist ecological or other environmental 
advice when determining the environmental impacts of development. We recommend 
referring to our SSSI Impact Risk Zones.

Cumbria Constabulary 

The submitted Planning Statement makes reference to Policies S4 and DM14 of the 
Local Plan, but there is no published information that indicates how the application 
addresses crime prevention.
Seek details how these security measures shall be implemented including;
demarcation of the site boundary to define external spaces and ownership, surveillance 
opportunities.(in the absence of windows in the east elevation of the public house or 
bedroom windows in the east or west elevations of the hotel any casual supervision from 
the coffee house will cease at close of trading hours), increasing the risk of misuse or 
abuse, constant illumination across the site (reflecting the Secured by Design accredited 
site requires values not less than 0.25Uo), avoidance of bollard type lighting as these 
fixtures and their illumination are more prone to vandalism, resist forced entry external 
doors, ground floor windows, plant or waste bin store doors, laminated glazing at ground 
floor, intruder alarm systems (if police response is required, these must be compliant with 
National Police Chief’s Council Security Systems Policy), hotel room doors to protect 
against burglary, cash handling facilities for each commercial function, CCTV details 
(image standard and Data Protection compliance issues), application of anti-graffiti 
coatings to elevation walls/surfaces
At the present time, our Licensing Officer has no crime or disorder concerns regarding 
the proposed public house (e.g. the proximity of St Patrick’s Primary School does not 
appear to be an issue). He will seek to determine appropriate conditions for the Premises 
Licence in due course. 

Access Officer 

No comments. 

Coal Authority 

The application site falls within the defined Development High Risk Area; therefore within 
the application site and surrounding area there are coal mining features and hazards 
which need to be considered in relation to the determination of this planning application. 
The Coal Authority records indicate that the site is likely to have been subject to historic 
unrecorded shallow underground coal workings. 
The Coal Authority notes the respective Site Investigation Reports (both dated 5 June 
2018, prepared by GIP Ltd), which accompany the planning application and which 
confirm rotary borehole investigations across each of the sites. 
On the basis that the reports confirm that none of the boreholes found any evidence of 
old mine workings, the Coal Authority has no objection to this planning application.

Page 23



Neighbour/other representations

Nine letters of objection were received on the grounds of;

 The design of the Travelodge is out of character, reflecting a motorway service 
station with a flat roof (contrasting with Tesco).

 A design similar to that of Premier Inn at Cockermouth would be more suitable.
 Disturbance from noise during construction works.
 Close proximity of the buildings to residential properties some of which were built 

for the elderly and will suffer from any construction works.
 Disturbance to residents from construction works/alcoholics. 
 Traffic volumes will be unmanageable given the existing road layouts. 
 Church Street is already busy with traffic.
 Question, in terms of health and safety, whether it is wise to have an access to a 

building site/drive through restaurant opposite a nursery school. 
 Loss of public amenity area and green-only support play area.
 Loss of natural habitat. 
 Why do Marston’s need 2 pubs/restaurants given their recent former approval? 
 Enough pubs, clubs and restaurants in Workington. Proposed area is at risk of 

flooding.
 Workington is not a tourist area and does not have the same footfall as Keswick 

and therefore is a national hotel of this size required?
 Is a new hotel required considering the recent permission for a hotel near Dunmail 

Park?
 The development would draw business away from existing hotels. 
 Impact on “ Uppies and Downies” event. 

One letter did support the restaurant aspect of the development citing a gap in the 
market, provision of employment opportunities and a venue for families, jobs, shopping 
facilities and accommodation for visitors. However, development should complement the 
town centre, not take trade away.

Duties

Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 
that the Local Planning Authority shall have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses. 
 
Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 
that special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of a designated Conservation Area.  

Page 24



Relevant development plan policies

 Allerdale Local Plan 1999

           Saved settlement limits 

 Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 

           Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
           Policy S2 - Sustainable development principles
           Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth
           Policy S4 - Design principles
           Policy S5 - Development Principles
           Policy S6a - Workington 
           Policy S16 - Town centres and retail
           Policy S21 - Developer contributions (excluding viability)
           Policy S22- Transport principles 
           Policy S25 - Sports leisure and open space 
           Policy S26 – Community and Rural Services 
           Policy S27 - Heritage assets
           Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
           Policy S30 - Reuse of Land
           Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity
           Policy S33 – Landscape
           Policy S35 - Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geodiversity
           Policy DM7 - Town Centre Development
           Policy DM8 - Protecting Town Centre Vitality and Viability
           Policy DM 12 Sustainable construction
           Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design 
           Policy DM16 - sequential test for previous developed land.

Other material considerations

 Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2 )

 Workington Town Centre Review 

This was part of the evidence base for the 2014 Local Plan. 

 National Planning Policy (NPPF) 2018

 National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG)1

 Historic England – Setting of heritage assets GPA 3 Second Edition 2017

1 Including all updates to 5th September 2018 

Page 25



 Allerdale Council Plan

           Includes the local authorities own bespoke objectives including;

i. Enhancing  our towns : aiming to create towns that are attractive and welcoming   
and retain their distinctive characters 

ii. Strengthening our Economy; aiming to create a strong and sustainable and vibrant 
local economy and create jobs 

Policy Weighting

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard 
is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made 
under the planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This means that the settlement limits 
within the Allerdale Local Plan 1999 and the policies of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 
2014 have primacy in design making. 

A further material consideration is the appeal decision for land at Little Broughton (PINs 
ref APP/G0908/W/17/3183948) which specifically addressed the weighting afforded to 
development plan policies in the context of paragraphs 215 and 14 of the former NPPF.

In the decision for this appeal the inspector commented that we are now within the 
medium term of the 2014 Local Plan’s delivery period. Within this time it was expected 
that new allocations, within part 2 of the Local Plan and beyond the 1999 settlement 
limits, would come forward for delivery to meet the planned delivery trajectories. 
 However, no allocations have been made and the emerging Part 2 Local Plan is not 
anticipated to be adopted until 2019. Although the Inspector’s decision predated the 
publication of the 2018 NPPF, comparisons of paragraph 14 of the 2012 version and 
paragraph 11 of this latest publication reveal that it is only rational to still afford significant 
weight to the decision as a material consideration. 

Consequently, for these reasons, the settlement limits from the 1999 Local Plan are out 
of date as are policies S3 and S5 of the 2014 Part 1 Local Plan to the extent where they 
refer to the 1999 settlement limits. 

However, this does not mean to say that other Local Plan Part 1 policies are out of date 
and should not be afforded substantial weight where they are consistent with the 
provisions of the NPPF 2018. In this instance, the other adopted policies cited in this 
report are all afforded full weight as development plan policies consistent with the 
objectives of the NPPF. 

Page 26



Assessment 

Principle of the development 

The overall aim of the NPPF and its core planning principles is to achieve 
sustainable development through strengthening the economy whilst supporting the 
needs of the community and protecting and enhancing the natural, built and historic 
environment. 
In line with the NPPF, the Council is committed to take a positive approach in the 
determination of planning applications and will always seek to approve proposals 
unless material adverse effects would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits (Policy S1). Para 8 of the updated NPPF states;

 “Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has three 
overarching objectives, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in
mutually supportive ways (so that opportunities can be taken to secure net gains
across each of the different objectives):

a) an economic objective- to help build a strong, responsive and competitive
     economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the
     right places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved
     productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;

b) a social objective -to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by
     ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet
     the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a well-designed
     and safe built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that
     reflect current and future needs and support health, social and
     cultural well-being; and

c) an environmental objective to contribute to protecting and enhancing our
      natural, built and historic environment; including making effective use of land,
      helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising
      waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including
      moving to a low carbon economy.”

More specific to commercial development, para. 80  of the NPPF expands this guidance 
stating “planning policies and decisions should help create the conditions in which 
businesses can invest, expand and adapt. Significant weight should be placed on
the need to support economic growth and productivity, taking into account both local 
business needs and wider opportunities for development. The approach taken
should allow each area to build on its strengths, counter any weaknesses and address 
the challenges of the future.”

Workington is classed as the Principal Centre within the settlement hierarchy under 
Policy S3 of the Allerdale Local Plan and should therefore be the focus for major new 
development (both commercial and residential). This role and the need to protect its 
vitality and viability, is reinforced under Policies S1, S2 and S6a which support 
sustainable development. Subject to certain criteria, Policy S5 indicates that new 
development will be concentrated within the physical limits of such centres, providing that 

Page 27



the scale of the development proposed is commensurate to the size of the settlement 
and reflect its position within the hierarchy. Where available and if appropriate the 
Council will also encourage and prioritise the effective reuse of previously used land and 
buildings or vacant and underused land, as identified by Policy S30.

The applicant, in addressing any impact on the town centre, has highlighted the individual 
economic benefits of the scheme which are considered significant. 

“In terms of the Marston’s operation, each investment proposal constitutes in the region 
of £2.5 - £3m capital investment and up to 50 full and part time employment opportunities 
for local people. A further benefit is that the Marston’s operation will provide a variety of 
employment positions and will offer both flexible working and apprenticeship 
opportunities. Consequently, the Marston’s pub/restaurant will enhance consumer choice 
and, in complementing the range of employment uses in this part of Workington, it will 
also make a positive contribution towards reinforcing the overall role and attraction of this 
area for further worthwhile economic development. 

Similarly, the Travelodge and Costa coffee units will provide a number of full time and 
part time employment opportunities with flexible shift patterns to suit an employer’s 
work/life balance. Travelodge is one of the UK’s largest and fastest growing hotel groups 
with over 380 hotels, and around 27,000 bedrooms. It offers affordable accommodation 
with limited facilities and has a network of branded hotels benefitting from 98% consumer 
brand recognition. A large inventory of bedrooms nationally, together with widespread 
consumer acceptance, enables the group to offer bedrooms on flexible rates throughout 
the year and promote destinations, stimulating demand in certain low season periods. 
Travelodge developments of around 80-150 rooms generally provide employment for 
around 20-30 full or part time staff recruited locally, and works with Job Centre Plus 
through a local employment partnership to recruit locally.

Finally, the Costa operation will introduce around 15 new jobs as part of their operation – 
again providing flexible working opportunities to suite the local population.” 

Officers accept that the recent Broughton appeal decision determined that little weight 
can be afforded to the saved settlement limits under policy S3 and S5 which are 
considered to be out of date. However in considering the site’s physical and visual 
relationship to the town’s settlement and the existing surrounding large scale urban 
developments (e.g. supermarkets, stadiums), unlike any peripheral edge of settlement 
developments projecting into the open countryside, this site clearly represents the infill of 
a vacant area of land well within the confines of the settlement. This is reflected in the 
fact that buildings that have been previously demolished on the site. Officers consider the 
principle of the development, subject to compliance with other local plan policies and any 
physical constraints, is a sustainable form of development, consolidating the built form of 
the local urban environment and providing a positive input and commercial investment 
into the site itself and its wider local economy.

Substantial weight should be afforded to this consideration.

Page 28



Town Centre Vitality and Viability

The economic merits of the proposal are therefore a fundamental consideration in 
determining this application. However whilst seeking to promote economic growth it is 
also essential to ensure that the development’s sustainable credentials do not challenge 
or undermine the vitality and viability of the town centre

Policy S16 advises that retail development should be located within existing centres and 
to be of a scale commensurate to the settlements role and function, so as to not 
undermine the settlement hierarchy. Further, policy S16 also advises that proposals for 
main town centre uses outside of defined centres will be refused where the applicant has 
not demonstrated compliance with the sequential approach to site selection, or where 
there is clear evidence that the proposal would have a significant adverse impact on the 
vitality and viability of a nearby centre. Policy DM8 stipulates a local threshold of 500m2 
for retail development requiring impact assessment.

The applicants highlight the proposal’s offer and its locational requirements, which 
include good transport links connecting to other large employment sites in the area, as 
well as the town centre. Customers using the proposal would include passing trade, local 
custom short and long term visitors, with spin off benefits to other businesses in the 
locality. 

The applicant emphasises that this customer base is an important distinguishing feature 
of the food and drink proposal, in that the two proposed units are not seeking to meet the 
needs of shoppers visiting Workington town centre or employees based within the centre. 
i.e. the proposed hotel, has a locational specific need seeking to meet a demand focused 
essentially on the pass-through trade. Therefore, the proposal provides a service and 
facility that both meets a demand from pass-by trade but also, locationally, offers 
significant town centre benefits via retaining patronage which may not otherwise stay 
within Workington. 

In direct reference to any impact to the town centre the applicant emphasises that the 
NPPF test guidance does not seek to verify if a proposal would affect a planned 
investment or result in trade diversion from a particular centre but, alternatively establish, 
whether such a proposal would have a “significant adverse impact” on either planned 
investment or the centre’s overall vitality and viability. 

The two impact tests set out in the NPPF are:  

i. Effect on Planned In-Centre Investment - The applicant advises that they are 
unaware of any relevant private or public sector planned investments in 
Workington town centre which would  prejudiced by the proposal and therefore 
contest this part  of the impact test is satisfied. 

ii. Impact on Town Centre Vitality and Viability 

The applicant’s appraisal has accounted for the scheme in general terms. It considers 
there will be very little direct competition with pubs and restaurants situated in the town 
centre. In reality, these in-centre businesses will continue to meet the refreshment needs 
of shoppers visiting the town centre and employees based within and adjacent to the 
centre. In effect the facilities within the town centre and those proposed are essentially 

Page 29



complementary, with each catering for different catchments/ segments of the market. 
There is no evidence whatsoever that the sustained vitality and viability of what is an 
acknowledged sub-regional shopping centre is dependent upon those in-centre 
businesses which provide food and drink. On the contrary, the town’s role and attraction 
is accounted for by a diverse range of both retail and service uses, none of which will 
experience any trade diversion arising from the proposed development. “

Looking at each specific use, the applicant comments : 

“Hotel 

The proposal is for budget hotel accommodation in the form of a Travelodge operation 
with relatively basic amenities for residents – catering for those who are looking for a 
‘stop-over’. Within the Town Centre itself, there are only two hotels – Sleepwell Inn and 
Washington Central. Both hotels are part of the same group and are 4*AA rated and 
provide their customers with a very different offer to that of Travelodge. Across these two 
hotels, services include a formal bistro and bar serving evening meals and Sunday 
lunches, a Spa and Gym, along with accommodation for weddings and conferences. 
Whilst the Travelodge will provide very limited food and drink provision, the Town Centre 
is a short walk (around 9 minutes to the Centre) from the site and some residents will 
walk to find alternative provision in the Centre – to the benefit of vitality and viability of the 
Centre. 

Café/Drive-Thru 

Where new refreshment facilities are provided, such as the proposed café drive thru, 
these typically generate a latent demand that was previously not being met. The cafés 
within the Centre of Workington cater for those that are in the Centre already – either 
shopping or working. It is unlikely that those travelling through Workington will make the 
effort to go into Workington, find somewhere to park and leave the car to pick up a drink 
from one of these town centre operations. 
As such, it is not a ‘zero sum game’ where a new operator can only benefit at the 
expense of an existing business. Such new provision does not necessarily result in 
existing businesses losing trade as a result of new and improved facilities being provided, 
particularly as those using the new service are more than likely to be driving through 
Workington. 

Pub / Restaurant Use 

The proposal also includes a family pub/restaurant, which is considered to fall within use 
Class A4. Whilst, the town centre does contain a handful of Class A4 uses, there is no 
equivalent type of family pub/restaurant which offers the same kind of service and offer 
(in particular facilities for children), which the proposed use could be considered to 
directly compete with. For example, outlets such as the Henry Bessemer 
(Weatherspoon’s Pub) are considered to be more drinking venues and do not offer the 
same food led dining experience or provision for children. It is, therefore, unlikely to divert 
significant trade from any existing town centre pub/restaurants.”

The applicant concludes that the proposed uses would not materially harm the sustained 
vitality and viability of Workington town centre (in compliance with the NPPF test), which 

Page 30



in their judgement would have an imperceptible effect on the town centre’s overall 
attraction and business performance. The applicant opines that the proposed 
development is likely to have a positive effect in relation to Workington as a whole, 
enhancing its role and attraction.

Policy S26 is not restricted to rural areas and advises that community facilities will be 
supported where they will not undermine the vitality and viability of the Centre.

In terms of existing accommodation, officers notes that the applicant has identified the 
Washington Central Hotel and its subsidiary Sleepwell Inn. Officers suggest that it is 
perhaps a moot point, but there is evidence that, although guests of the Sleepwell Inn 
have use of the Washington Central’s facilities such as the swimming pool and 
restaurant, it is actually a detached building and the accommodation and offer is very 
much more akin to a Travelodge. There are also other accommodation providers in the 
locality such as the Waverley and the Cumberland but it is accepted that they are outside 
of the defined Centre. Nevertheless, there is no evidence to suggest that the addition of 
this one additional hotel would impact adversely on the viability and vitaility of the Centre. 
The available STEAM data2 does not drill down to a Workington and its hinterland level. It 
is logical to conclude that there is likely to be some similarities in the offer between the 
Sleepwell Inn and the Travel Lodge. However, competition between two operators is not 
a material consideration and the impact on one business is very distinct from the impact 
on the overall viability and vitality of the Centre. It is also accepted by officers that there is 
a degree of difference between the composite offer of the application site and the Town 
Centre providers and this provides clear potential for the proposal to be complementary 
to rather than adversely impacting on the Centre.

In evaluating the sequential test, the application site does not lie within Workington town 
centre, nor is it within an Edge of Centre location as defined by the NPPF (it is in excess 
of 300m of the town centre defined in the Local Plan). It therefore falls to be assessed as 
an ‘Out of Centre’ site for the purposes of section 2 of the NPPF and policies S16 and 
DM8 of the Allerdale Local Plan.

The updated NPPF states within Para 85.” Planning policies and decisions should 
support the role that town centres play at the heart of local communities, by taking a 
positive approach to their growth, management and adaptation.”
Under Para 87 it expands”. When considering edge of centre and out of centre 
proposals, preference should be given to accessible sites which are well connected to 
the town centre. Applicants and local planning authorities should demonstrate flexibility 
on issues such as format and scale, so that opportunities to utilise suitable town centre or
edge of centre sites are fully explored. “

The applicant has submitted a supporting sequential assessment of town centre and 
edge of centre sites. In reference to former case law /appeal decisions, they have 
identified sites both suitable for the development proposed and specifically for the 
development proposed (i.e. no disaggregation into its constituent parts) i.e. the 
description refers to a hotel with coffee shop and public house /restaurant meeting the 

2 STEAM is a tourism economic impact modelling process which analyses and reports date derived from accommodation 
suppliers and visitor surveys. 

Page 31



needs of the local population, pass by trade and hotel customers seeking destinations 
close to the highway network and neighbouring employment areas.
The assessment refers to three recent permissions around Workington which also 
included sequential tests and were approved 

• • 2/2015/0768 - Enterprise Court, Lakes Road; 
• • 2/2016/0004 - St Helen’s Business Park, Siddick Road; and 
• • 2/2017/0255 – Marston’s Estates Ltd, New Bridge Road. 

The assessment focused solely on Workington given its status as the Borough’s principal 
centre and explored other comparable sites of 1.3ha.

The sequential test is included as an annex to this report. Officers concur with the 
conclusion and note the business model and interrelationship of the proposed uses. As 
such, it is acknowledged that there is very limited scope for flexibility in the format and/or 
scale of the proposal.3 Officers also advise, in this regard, that the Council needs to be 
realistic and flexible in terms of its expectations.4 In conclusion there are no available, 
suitable, sequentially preferable sites. 

Design

The design of the building was the subject of pre application discussions. 
The site concerned is open and prominent to public view and therefore a high standard of 
design was required, albeit it is important to note the diverse range of land uses and 
buildings in the surrounding locality from traditional churches to a late twentieth century 
retail store and a post-wat stadium (Derwent Park).
There is an absence of any prevailing architectural language and character in the area. 
The built form is rather loose in terms of siting and relationship of one site to another with 
an eclectic abundance of forms and styles. In this context, officers do not oppose the 
concept of a contemporary designed hotel building. However, it is considered that the 
external materials should be reserved under condition to seek to improve the colour 
palette. The siting of the building successfully seeks to reduce the dominance and 
isolation, bringing it within the vicinity of the comparably sized building of Allerdale 
House.

The public house/restaurant building lacks any real referencing of the local vernacular. It 
is clearly not a bespoke design. However, it is not offensive and, in the context of the 
eclectic surroundings, vernacular referencing would look equally alien in this setting. 
There is a balance to be made here; the design could have been of a higher quality but it 
is, nevertheless, neutral in terms of impact. It is also noted that it is of the same design as 
that previously approved north of the Tesco Store. 
The frontage position of the building onto the A597 reduces its impact on the existing 
residential properties on Church Street which occupy an elevated position on the 
southern boundary. Intervening landscaping will further diminish the impact of the 
building and, indeed, enhance its landscape contribution to the neighbouring green 
corridor along Soapary Beck. 

3 Paragraph: 010 Reference ID: 2b-010-20140306 refers.
4 NPPG Paragraph: 012 Reference ID: 2b-012-20140306

Page 32



Members have recently aired concerns in relation to fire risk arising from the application 
of cladding to a building. Cladding is proposed and, as previously advised to members, 
this is a matter currently covered by Building Regulations. However, as part of a 
discharge of the materials condition proposed, officers can request that information is 
also submitted in relation to fire safety.

Heritage – preamble 
 
The Council in determining applications has a duty to preserve and enhance the setting 
of listed buildings and preserve or enhance the character and appearance of 
conservation areas. 

Policy S27 of the Local Plan emphasises the need of the applicant to describe the 
significance of any heritage asset, including any contribution made by their setting.
The application includes a heritage assessment of the site, the facts and findings of 
which have been corroborated by officers. It includes a historic map analysis outlining its 
former occupation by a wide range of buildings of differing uses during the 1800s which 
lasted up to the 1950s. It indicated some demolition had occurred, eventually resulting in 
the overall clearance of the site by the 1970s.

Heritage – identification of assets 

In the immediate locality there are 3 listed buildings.

To the west of the site is the Joseph Pirt and Co. Engineering Works, a grade II listed 
building having been added to the statutory list on 13th August 1985:-

‘Iron foundry now engineering works. Late C18 or early C19. Hammer-dressed 
calciferous sandstone with flush quoins, under graduated green slate roof with coped 
gables and kneelers; large square calciferous sandstone chimney stack, the upper part of 
stepped brickwork. 3 storeys, 2 bays towards river, with 2-storey, 2-bay extension 
towards road and central projecting chimney. Original pointed arched windows are mostly 
blocked with bricks or boarded over. Rear corrugated extension is not of interest and 
covers original pointed arched doorway and windows. Single-storey lock up garages at 
front are not of interest.”  

To the south is the grade II* listed Church of St Michael, this was added to the statutory 
list on 6th June 1951:-

‘Parish Church. C12 tower, nave rebuilt in 1770 and after a fire in 1888 by Bassett Smith 
and James Howes. Hammer-dressed pink and calciferous sandstone, the rebuilding of 
similar material but with red sandstone quoins, string course and battlemented parapet 
with crocketed finials, all on chamfered plinth. Graduated green slate roof with coped 
gables and cross finials. West 3-storey tower with 9-bay nave and aisles; single-bay 
chancel with north vestry. Tower base is C12 with upper storeys of 1770. Elliptical-arched 
west doorway under Perpendicular- style overlight. Painted west clock face with Roman 
numerals under Perpendicular- style bell openings. Nave and aisles are wholly 1888 with 
traceried 2- and 3-light windows on 2 levels. Chancel has large traceried east window. 
Single- storey polygonal vestry. Interior of tower/porch has medieval pedestal font with 
octagonal carved bowl. C12 tower arch has broach-stopped hollow chamfer. Built-in C12 

Page 33



cushion capital, medieval slab and cross fragments. Various C19 wall plaques. Interior of 
nave has barrel roof with braces. 4-bay aisles. C19 gallery. Variety of late C19 and early 
C20 stained glass. Side chapel has carved and painted reredos 1933. Chancel has C19 
piscina and sedilia. Effigies of Sir Christopher Curwen and his wife, 1450, on tomb base 
with heraldic side panels.green slate roof with coped gables and cross finials. West 3-
storey tower with 9-bay nave and aisles; single-bay chancel with north vestry. Tower 
base is C12 with upper storeys of 1770. Elliptical-arched west doorway under 
Perpendicular- style overlight. Painted west clock face with Roman numerals under 
Perpendicular- style bell openings. Nave and aisles are wholly 1888 with traceried 2- and 
3-light windows on 2 levels. Chancel has large traceried east window. Single- storey 
polygonal vestry. Interior of tower/porch has medieval pedestal font with octagonal 
carved bowl. C12 tower arch has broach-stopped hollow chamfer. Built-in C12 cushion 
capital, medieval slab and cross fragments. Various C19 wall plaques. Interior of nave 
has barrel roof with braces. 4-bay aisles. C19 gallery. Variety of late C19 and early C20 
stained glass. Side chapel has carved and painted reredos 1933. Chancel has C19 
piscina and sedilia. Effigies of Sir Christopher Curwen and his wife, 1450, on tomb base 
with heraldic side panels.”

Finally, to the east of the Church is located the grade II* listed St Michael’s House, this 
was added to the statutory list on 13th December 1985:-

“Rectory now sheltered home. Probably C15 with C19 and C20 alterations. Cement 
roughcast over extremely thick stone walls, under graduated green slate roof with C19 
coped gables and kneelers; original cement-roughcast chimney stacks. 2 storeys, 2 bays, 
with flanking gabled wings: hall with cross wings. Central recessed 2-bay section has 
C19 panelled and glazed door in original pointed chamfered arch with hood mould, but 
heavy C20 restoration. C17-style stone-mullioned windows in hall and wings of 2, 3 and 4 
lights, some with mullions removed and all with moulded sills and drip moulds. Right wing 
has unusual projecting upper-floor left return wall on corbels. Both wings have large 
stepped external chimney stacks. Left wing return wall has C20 windows in plain reveals. 
Rear extensions have large C20 windows. Interior of right wing has a former external 
pointed-arched doorway, only recently uncovered, which is similar to the entrance 
doorway and this, with the consistent thickness of the walls, suggest that the hall and 
wings are of one build. Blocked inglenook in ground-floor room right. Rear C17-style 
staircase. An extremely interesting and rare survival of a hall-house more common in the 
south of Cumbria. Former stable to right, now warden's house, is not of interest.”

The norther perimeter borders the St. Michael’s Workington’s Conservation Area which 
was designated in 2002. There is no Conservation Area appraisal approved but the area 
is characterised by the Church as the focal point, clearly the largest building and 
prominent on higher ground, with the green expanse of the Churchyard and subservient 
rectory and Victorian terraces beyond. Beyond the Churchyard the spaces are very much 
contained with an intimate prevailing character to the streets. This contrasts with the 
sudden opening up vistas to the north of Church Street.

Heritage – contribution of setting to the significance of assets

In terms of assessing how the setting of the assets contributes to their overall 
significance, Historic England’s GPA3 advises:-
 

Page 34



“Settings of heritage assets change over time. Understanding this history of change will 
help to determine how further development within the asset’s setting is likely to affect the 
contribution made by setting to the significance of the heritage asset. Settings of heritage 
assets which closely resemble the setting at the time the asset was constructed or 
formed are likely to contribute particularly strongly to significance but settings which have 
changed may also themselves enhance significance, for instance where townscape 
character has been shaped by cycles of change over the long term. Settings may also 
have suffered negative impact from inappropriate past developments and may be 
enhanced by the removal of the inappropriate structure(s).”

Each Building was assessed using the values of their evidential, historical, 
aesthetic/architectural, and communal significance. The contribution of the setting to 
each building was further evaluated in the context of its physical surroundings, functional 
relationship and communications, experience of the asset, and the asset’s associated 
attributes. This accords with the principles within GPA3. 

The findings of the assessment were as follows;

John Pirt works 

“The asset is comparatively inward looking with limited setting relationship within the 
wider townscape. The setting identified has limited historic significance and is almost 
entirely a 20th century creation, it contributes very little to the overall significance of the 
building as a heritage asset and thus its setting significance is considered low”

Officers agree that the setting eastwards towards and including the application site is a 
C20th creation. The historic development has been cleared leaving an open vista that 
contrasts with the containment provided by the higher ground, trees and Church to the 
south, the Viaduct to the west and the terracing of Derwent Park to the north. However, 
this openness of the area, including the application site, to the east does mean that the 
buildings and especially the stack are prominent and provide a landmark when 
approaching along Church Street and the A597, a landmark that, with the backdrop of the 
spoil heap to the rear, clearly illustrates the industrial heritage of the town. This physical 
setting therefore does contribute to the significance of the asset and development of the 
site has the potential to result in a degree of harm. 

St Michael’s Church 

The Church is considered within the applicant’s assessment to be of high significance:

“The assessment illustrates the manner in which the asset is an important townscape 
feature and directly engages to the wider conservation area, forming a focal point within 
the context of Falcon Place and the surrounding residential streets. 
However, it is apparent that setting contributes little to the significance of the asset when 
considering its northern setting, this is a 20th century creation of little townscape merit, 
it’s open nature contrasting sharply with the domestic scale and grain to the south of the 
asset and also being very different from the historic setting of the church in this direction. 
The building looks out over a municipal landscape dominated by highways, with 
commercial and industrial buildings further north and north east, including superstore and 
sports stadia. 

Page 35



Thus to the south the setting is concluded to make a positive contribution to the 
significance of the asset, whilst to the north its setting significance is considered low.”

Officers generally concur with these findings although it is of note that the Bridge from 
Northside is an important and sensitive visual receptor. From here the Church including 
its Nave and Tower are very prominent with buildings to either side and within the 
foreground very much subservient in scale and detail. This prominence reflects the 
historical functional setting of the Church, a prominence that is only rivalled by the cupola 
of the former Trinity Methodist Church. Again, the application is part of the setting and 
does contribute to its significance. Indeed, the development will change this setting. 

St Michael’s House.

This asset is considered in the applicant’s assessment to be of high significance:-

“The asset is a townscape feature and directly engages to the wider conservation area, 
albeit within the context of its own tightly enclosed curtilage. However, it is apparent that 
setting contributes little to the significance of the asset when considering its northern 
setting, this is a 20th century creation of little townscape merit, it’s open nature 
contrasting sharply with the domestic scale and grain to the south and immediate east of 
the asset. 
Thus to the south and east the setting is concluded to make a positive contribution to the 
significance of the asset, whilst to the north its setting significance is considered low”.

Officers concur with this assessment. 

St. Michael Conservation Area 

The applicant’s assessment advises:-

“The overarching characteristic of the conservation area is the contrast between the tight 
knit residential terraced streets and the open spaces associated with the few public 
buildings within the area (Church, School and Railway Station). The area suffers from 
much noise and disruption due to the main roads which pass along its periphery, 
although within the area itself streets tend to be quieter, with viewpoints and vistas 
constrained by the tightknit urban grain and terraced architecture.

The residential properties tend to be tightly grouped and sited immediately to the 
pavement rear (sometimes with small curtilage areas), again giving a somewhat 
claustrophobic character, especially when contrasted with the few substantive open 
spaces. Buildings tend to be two storeys in height and, whilst there is much commonality 
of scale and overall design of the residential properties, there has been much loss of 
detailing through wholesale introductions of modern features such as uPVC windows. 
Whilst a short distance to the north of the conservation area, the application site has very 
limited engagement with the asset and an entirely different townscape character. The 
main point of interface is at the northern termination of Dora Crescent, however in this 
location the area is already within the setting of modern 20th century housing which 
overlooks the application site, adjacent to the conservation area. 
Equally, the change in levels means that, when viewed within the context of the buildings 
within the conservation area, St Michael’s House turns its back to the north, whilst views 

Page 36



down Dora Crescent are funnelled to no obvious termination point, with merely some 
concrete bollards demarking the turning point for the cul-de-sac, overlooked by modern 
housing.”

Officers concur with this assessment

Heritage – impact of development on the significance of the assets

In evaluating the impact of the development, the applicant’s report considers the proposal 
as two distinct forms. 

The report suggests that the Travelodge’s contemporary design relates to the wider 
styles in the West Cumbria area with its site scale and proportions being influenced by 
Allerdale House. The separate lower scale building of the public house is located closer 
to the historic assets (reference was made to the levels of the townscape with the Church 
and rectory remaining dominant features). 

Each listing was assessed in relation to location and siting, form and appearance, other 
effects, permanence and long term effects of the development. The assessment 
concluded that the proposal would have a neutral impact to the setting of the three listed 
buildings. In reference to the Conservation Area it concluded  

“the proposal introduces interest, animation, vitality and design cohesion to the 
application site, and thus the proposal (as encouraged by the NPPF) seeks to engage 
with the opportunity to enhance and better reveal the significance of the area, turning a 
presently poorly detailed site, into one that provides an opportunity for users to engage 
with and permeate into the conservation area.”

The report therefore overall concludes that the scheme fully adheres to local and national 
adopted planning policies.

Officers, in evaluating the document, consider that the impact on setting has been 
analysed in detail .The existing historic listed buildings in the immediate vicinity are 
prominent and dominant features within the local urban landscape. However, the 
proposal was the subject of pre application discussions to examine the design aspects of 
siting, scale, massing and materials of the proposal to the site and surroundings including 
the setting of the listed building which has prompted modifications to the design.
Officers concur with the findings that the proposal site is distinctly different from that of 
the built fabric of the town. 

Overall, individually and cumulatively the level of harm is considered to be less than 
substantial. Officers would not go the extent of concluding that the impact was neutral as 
per the applicant’s claim, given that a large building is to be introduced to the Church’s 
northern setting and the John Pirt Works’ eastern setting. Specifically, despite the 
detailing, the scale and siting of the building will dilute the prominence of the Church’s 
Tower and Nave and the Works’ Tower when viewed from Bridge and from Allerdale 
House/Griffin Street respectively. However, the applicant’s response to these matters 
means that the harm is demonstrably lower than less than substantial. Furthermore, in 
the context of policy S27 of the Local plan and the NPPF, there are clear and convincing 
benefits arising from the proposal, as set out in this report. Overall the development is 

Page 37



considered to appropriately preserve the setting of the listed buildings and the character 
and appearance of the conservation area. The proposal therefore complies with Policy 
S27 of the Allerdale Local Plan.

Heritage – archaeology 

A further desk based assessment report was submitted which recognises the historic 
background of the site as part of the late medieval town which expanded to the 19th 
century to include houses and small scale industries. Despite former demolition works, 
any assets which do survive would be disturbed by the construction works. The County 
Archaeologist accepts these details subject to an archaeological evaluation condition.

Public open space

Policy S25 of the Allerdale local plan seeks to maintain, enhance and protect the 
provision of formal and informal sports and recreation facilities and public open space 
throughout the Borough.
Whilst it primarily seeks to ensure this is delivered as part of new build development it 
also does include criteria to safeguard existing areas of open space. It refers to the 
Council’s Open space, Sport and Recreation strategy indicating the loss of such space 
will not be permitted unless; there is evidence that the land/space is surplus to 
requirements, replaced by better provision in terms on quantity and quality in a suitable 
location, or the development is for an alternative sports and leisure provision which 
outweighs the loss.

The applications site’s grassed area of land referred to as “The Green” is public open 
space.
Under the Council’s Open space, Sport and Recreational Strategy the application site 
has been classed as one of Workington‘s 31 “Amenity greenspaces”. In assessing its 
quality it was considered as being on the border (40%) between good and poor quality. 
Its value as open space was only marginally above the Borough average.
Workington has 0.67ha of public open space per 1,000 population, in comparison with 
the Borough’s average of 0.65ha per 1,000. In this context the proposed land cannot be 
considered surplus to the town’s public open space requirements.

However, the level western end of the application site is constrained by its flood risk and 
underground utilities. The visual appearance and quality of the existing open space is 
hindered by its lack of vegetation which also undermines its biodiversity potential. Its 
undulating form also undermines the ability for its use for sport recreational purposes.

In the officer’s opinion the enhancement of this remaining undeveloped section of the site 
which incorporates a swale, with a detailed landscaping scheme would provide the 
opportunity for an accessible compensatory high quality area of landscaped land for the 
benefit of the wider residential community e.g. paths park benches etc.. Alongside the 
peripheral landscaping to the scheme, this would replace the undistinctive and 
featureless area and enhance the quality and environment of this well used important 
highway corridor. 
Subject to the adoption of the above criteria officers consider the proposal complies with 
Policy S25.

Page 38



Ground conditions 

The application is supported by a detailed ground assessment report which includes the 
results of ground tests on the site. The Council’s Environmental Health officers did 
initially question the historic land uses on the site but, further to the receipt and 
assessment of the archaeological report, are satisfied with the additional information 
subject to adhering to their remediation recommendations to be secured through the 
imposition of conditions.

Flood risk 

A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been provided. The land would be remodelled to 
accommodate the development. 
The finished floor level of both buildings would be at least 6.52 Above Ordnance Datum 
(AOD) and would be similar to that of the level section of the adjoining A597 highway 
(this is 600mm above the predicted 1 in 100 flood level and 210mm above the 1 in 
1000mm flood event level). Petrol interceptors would be applied to the car park drainage.

The FRA acknowledge hotels and public houses are classed as more vulnerable land 
uses and restaurants as less vulnerable land use under the planning guidance. The 
application site falls within Flood Zone 2 and 3a, and Soapary Beck lies 20m to the north 
of the site. However, it is observed that the section of land in flood zone 3a at the site’s 
western corner lies outside the development area and would be unchanged by the 
development proposals. Furthermore, the site was not affected during recent flood 
events. As part of the revised modelling two large underground attention tanks (totalling 
an additional compensatory storage volume of 358 cubic metres) are to be installed 
underneath the car park areas plus an additional open swale (103m3). 

The applicant has submitted a sequential test in support of the FRA referring to the sites 
identified sequentially for the town centre. The parameters of the search are considered 
reasonable given the format of the proposal and the locational requirements. 

The Assessment considers ‘In-Centre Sites’ (sites 1-5). Whilst all of these are not within 
a flood zone, none are of a suitable size to accommodate the proposed development. 
Accordingly, those sites are not considered relevant. Of the ‘Edge of Centre’ sites, site 6 
is more sequentially preferable in terms of its distance from the Town Centre. However, 
the site is no more sequentially preferable in flooding terms. It is designated as Flood 
Zone 2 and 3 – similar to the application site. Furthermore, the site is not available for 
development and is therefore unavailable. 
With regards to the remaining  ‘Out of Centre’ sites (sites 7-14), any site which falls within 
flood zone 1 is currently unavailable as a result of already being developed / under-
construction, not on the market for development, or are too small to accommodate the 
scheme.

Drainage 

The application proposes the discharge rate of the surface water has been restricted to 
6.5l/s which is below that of the existing greenfield run off rate (19.1l/s) because the site 
exceeds 1ha and to ensure no increased risk of flooding elsewhere. 
Foul drainage is proposed to the combined sewer. 

Page 39



The Environment Agency has raised no objections relating to flood risk. United Utilities 
has indicated no objection to the proposal subject to conditions. The County Local Lead 
Flood Authority is satisfied with the submitted FRA and amended drainage details subject 
to conditions

Based on the advice of relevant consultees and, subject to the conditions requested, the 
proposal as outlined in the FRA is considered to be acceptable on flood risk and drainage 
grounds in accordance with Policy S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan, Part 1, 2014. 
 
Highways Sustainability, Access and Parking 

Given the scale of the development, its highway impact is a major planning 
consideration.
The proposal is served by a single vehicular access off William Street. Additional 
pedestrian links are provided onto Church Street and across the A597 to the existing 
footpath network, with a central north /south footway corridor across the site reflecting an 
informal pathway.
The layout plan outlines a total of 154 car parking spaces and 21 cycle spaces with 
additional service yards for each commercial unit. Pedestrian access to the proposals 
would be from the southern side of the buildings from their associated car parks. The 
Costa drive through corridor traverses around the northern perimeter of the Travelodge 
building and, therefore, irrespective of any back up queues is a significant distance from 
the public highway. 
The applicant submitted a Travel Plan document for the Travelodge.

The application’s supporting Transport Assessment considered the site was well linked to 
the town’s primary road network. It viewed the site as being well related to the existing 
public transport network (220m to the bus stop which supports a regular bus service and 
430m to the train station).
In addition to public transport links the site is within walkable distance of the both the 
town centre and a high proportion of the nearby residential section of the wider town. A 
2m wide footway will be provided along William Street.

There is a record of a mere three slight collisions over the past 5 years on the local 
highway network. 
Policy S5 requires that new development includes acceptable arrangements for car 
parking and access. The existing road network has the capacity to accommodate the 
traffic generation without any alterations to its access.
The proposal is therefore considered a sustainable location in accordance with planning 
policy, with no known committed developments or highway network changes which would 
have an impact on the finding of the assessment (accounting for a worst case scenario).

Adequate parking and turning facilities have been provided for deliveries and customers.
The applicant’s evidence acknowledges that the parking requirement should be 159 
spaces to accord with the County parking standards. Officers consider the 5 space 
shortfall (3%) is marginal and satisfactory given the site’s walking distance to the town 
centre and its public car park facilities. 

Page 40



The highway authority considers the revised scheme, as amended, to be acceptable, 
subject to highway and drainage conditions and a s106 contribution for monitoring the 
Travel Plan. There are small minor revisions required but these can be addressed 
through the delivery of their recommended conditions i.e. provision of an adoptable 
standard of highway.  It is evident from the Highway authority’s response that the existing 
highway infrastructure has the capacity to accommodate the development without any 
significant alterations to its network. Significant weight is attached to the highway 
authority’s response that this consideration has been satisfactorily addressed.

Officers advise that the monitoring fee should not be enforced as it is part of the County 
Council’s statutory function and is not reasonably required to make the development 
acceptable. A s106 agreement would be contrary to Reg 122 of the Community 
Infrastructure Regulations (CIL) Regulations and the 2015 ruling by the High Court.5

Residential amenity 

The application includes a noise assessment which included noise surveys. It established 
that the existing background noise climate is dominated from traffic noise along the A597 
highway which is constant throughout the day but reduces significantly between 10pm 
and 7am. 

Each proposed land use was examined separately. 

The Travelodge have their own internal noise standards for accommodation which they 
consider could be achieved via standard thermal double glazing. Residential properties 
are sited at an elevated position on the southern side of Church Street. However, given 
the separation distance between the buildings, it is envisaged that there will not be any 
loss of residential amenity.

The Costa drive through facility is sited on the northern side of the building and any noise 
would be variable during the day but, given the screening of the building, noise from this 
facility would not likely affect residents. Similarly the noise from vehicles using the drive 
through would not affect residents subject to a condition limiting the hours of use to 
reflect the drop in background noise levels currently experienced by existing residents.
The drive through cafeteria is also to be restricted up to 22.00hrs Monday to Sunday.

Turning to the public house, it is noted there are no windows facing the Travelodge but 
that any escaping noise levels are likely to be lower than that of the daytime ambient 
background noise levels. The potential for disturbance from bottle disposal in early hours 
or late evening is acknowledged and therefore recommended to be restricted to normal 
working hours (alongside delivery hours).
Plant noise is another potential source of noise which would be masked during the 
daytime by background traffic. The applicant accepts the need for a planning noise 
condition to safeguard residential amenity, which can also be mitigated through the siting 
of these details.
In a separate delivery statement it is advised that deliveries will occur between 9am-
18.00pm Mon-Sat. Mitigation measures would be applied to minimise any disturbance. 
Therefore, subject to satisfactory conditioned mitigation, the details of the scheme are 

5 Oxfordshire County Council v Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government and others [2015].

Page 41



considered acceptable. The construction works would also be secured under a planning 
condition.

The public house’s 70m separation distance from existing dwellings has the potential for 
disturbance at quieter times of the day/night when background noise levels decline, but it 
is important to note that neither the Police or Environmental Health object to the principle 
of the development. 
Although the application details do not disclose hours of operation, an application has 
been applied for a licence for the public house up to midnight during the week and 1am 
on Friday and Saturday. Whilst the applicant indicates this will not be used extensively, 
they advise that it is intended to assist trade at key points at Christmas and in the 
Summer.
Officers consider that the introduction of a new public house premises in such proximity 
to a residential area of the town should incorporate mitigation measures in order to 
minimise disturbance to its neighbourhood 
Officers therefore recommend specific public house trading hours at this location, 
(including the beer garden) up to midnight (00:00hrs) Mondays to Sundays and the beer 
garden to be used no later than 22:00hrs Mondays to Sundays.

The lighting details have been submitted with a range of lamps on the buildings and 
adjoining carparks including details of their illuminance levels. The Council’s 
Environmental Health Officer seeks to ensure the external lighting does not affect the 
amenity of the adjacent properties on Church Street. It is suggested that this is secured 
by planning condition.

Ecology
 
Policy S5 requires that new development will not incur any significant harmful effects on 
environmental assets, habitats or wildlife, which cannot be successfully mitigated. Policy 
S35 of the Local Plan requires new development to protect and enhance key ecological 
habitat and wildlife corridors, maintain where appropriate, enhance priority habitats and 
species and contribute to green infrastructure. 
The application includes a supporting ecological assessment for the site. The study 
advised that there are 4 statutory designated sites within 1km; the River Derwent and 
Bassenthwaite Lake Special Area of Conservation (SAC) at 805m distance; the River 
Derwent and tributaries Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), again at 805m and 
Siddick Pond SSSI and Local Nature Reserve (LNR) 750m away.  

The desk survey accounted for reptiles, amphibians, invertebrates and Flora. The 
following conclusions are noted and agreed by officers;

 Bats - 10 records within 1km but these are over 660m from the site and the 
absence of buildings or trees and street lighting results in poor foraging habitat for 
them and therefore the site value and impact is negligible.

 Badgers – No records. The grassland provides potential for foraging but little 
potential for setts. They may pass through the site but are generally absent from 
the site.

 Dormice – no records and unsuitable habitat 

Page 42



 Otters - There are recordings of otter within 1km but the report suggests that, 
although a watercourse is located 25m to the north, it is separated by a busy 
street lit highway and therefore no predicted impact on this species traversing 
along the watercourse.

 Squirrels - The nature of vegetation is unsuitable for squirrels.
 Hedgehogs - Minimal potential for hedgehogs 
 Birds - The report also advises the site is a poor habitat for birds especially given 

the absence of trees or vegetation and, although it may be used for foraging for 
some bird species in the wider context, it is unlikely to be important.

 The site’s grassland provides little structured vegetation for reptiles, frogs or 
amphibians (including Greater Crested Newts) with the resultant impact being 
negligible.

The report concludes that the development will not affect any designated sites. Measures 
within a pollution prevention plan should seek to protect any species in the neighbouring 
watercourse from spillages. The site’s short grassland limits the wildlife diversity of the 
site and a landscaping scheme could mitigate and supplement any biodiversity impact.
The recommendations refer to keeping any lighting to a minimum to minimise light spill to 
minimise any impacts on bats. The pollution measures will safeguard any otters. 
Precautionary measures are suggested for badgers and limited impact on bird species 
whose habitat could also be enhanced with landscaping. 
Officers highlight there are no objections from natural England and therefore consider the 
details satisfactory in relation to the requirements of Policy S35 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1) 2014.
 
Ground conditions

The application is supported by a detailed ground assessment report which includes the 
results of ground tests on the site. The Council’s Environmental Health Officer did initially 
question the historic land uses on the site but, further to the archaeological report, are 
satisfied with the additional information (subject to planning conditions)

Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act, the proposal has 
implications under the New Homes Bonus, Council Tax Revenue, Business Rates 
Revenue and the Section 106 Payment to the County Council for the monitoring of the 
Travel plan. These are considered of little weight in determining the merits of the 
submitted application.

Other matters

The issues of the cultural event of the Uppies and downies is not considered to constitute 
a significant issue of any weight in the determination of the application

Page 43



Conclusion

The proposal lies within the settlement limits of Workington and will see the re-
development of an unallocated greenfield site. 
It is considered that any perceived harm that may occur from the change in the nature of 
the site would be outweighed by the significant economic benefits. The latter are afforded 
substantial weight.

Although the proposal will prompt a significant change to the visual appearance of this 
public open space, the proposal remains as an integral part of the town’s urban fabric 
and retains the green wedge corridor along the Mill race. The proposed land uses and 
the design of the buildings are compatible and well related with their surroundings and 
will provide and important positive beneficial contribution not only to the site itself but to 
the wider local economy 

Officers therefore recommended approval subject to planning conditions.

Page 44



Annex 1

Conditions/Reasons

Time 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission.

Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act  1990.

Accordance with approved details 

2. With the exception of the details required by condition 9, the development 
hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance with the following 
plans:

     194 - 01 Location Plan.pdf 
     194 - 02 Rev J Proposed Site Plan.pdf 
      Amended Dwg 194-03 Rev E Ground and First Floor Plans 3-8-18.pdf 
      194 - 04 Rev A Second and Third Floor Plans.pdf 
      194 - 05 Rev B Sections.pdf Amended Dwg 194-06 Rev F Hotel Elevations 3-  8-18.pdf 

             Amended Dwg 194-02 Rev K Proposed Site Plan 3-8-18.pdf 
             Amended Dwg MR17-035-103 Rev A Detailed Soft Landscape Proposals 3-8-  18.pdf 
             Amended Dwg 194-11 Rev D Proposed Site Plan with Street Scene 3-8-18.pdf 
             Amended Plan 17-7223-001 Rev P 10 Drainage and Levels Layout 09.08.18.pdf 
            4317-WD-(P)-005 Proposed Boundary Treatment.pdf 
            Marston’s Play Equipment Detail.pdf 
            MR18-034-101 Rev A Soft Landscape Proposals.pdf 
            MR18-035-101 Outline Soft Landscape Proposals.pdf 
            MR18-035-103 Detailed Soft Landscape Proposals.pdf 
            Lighting Plot.pdf 
            P9310-720-C External Lighting.pdf 

Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete          
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations to the 
scheme are properly considered.

Pre-commencement of any development

3.   Prior to the development commencing, full details of existing and proposed 
ground levels (with a minimum finished floor levels of 6.52 AOD) shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 
completed in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is compatible with the 
character of the surrounding area and minimise the risk of flooding, in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S4 and S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 
1) Adopted July 2014. 

Page 45

javascript:AppBlobImage('448973');
javascript:AppBlobImage('448974');
javascript:AppBlobImage('452272');
javascript:AppBlobImage('448976');
javascript:AppBlobImage('448977');
javascript:AppBlobImage('452273');
javascript:AppBlobImage('452274');
javascript:AppBlobImage('452275');
javascript:AppBlobImage('452276');
javascript:AppBlobImage('452510');
javascript:AppBlobImage('448997');
javascript:AppBlobImage('448998');
javascript:AppBlobImage('448999');
javascript:AppBlobImage('449000');
javascript:AppBlobImage('449001');
javascript:AppBlobImage('449002');
javascript:AppBlobImage('449003');


4. Prior to the commencement of the development, detailed mitigation measures 
for the prevention of pollution of controlled waters from operational surface water 
run-off shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The 
approved mitigation measures shall be implemented before the development is 
brought into use and shall be maintained and retained in operational use for the 
lifetime of the development.

Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to manage 
the risk of flooding and pollution in accordance with policies S29, S32, S35 and S36 of 
the Allerdale Local Plan 2014.

5. No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The statement 
shall include the following: 
(a) Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the development, 
including site and staff traffic; 
(b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the construction and 
demolition and to monitor any properties at risk of damage from vibration, as well as 
taking into account noise from vehicles, deliveries. All measurements should make 
reference to BS7445. 
(c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential properties from 
construction compounds including visual impact, noise, and light pollution. 
(d) Mitigation measures to ensure that no harm is caused to protected species during 
construction. 
(e) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the construction or 
demolition; 
(f) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during construction and 
demolition; 
(g) Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase; 
(h) Hours of working and deliveries; 
(i) Details of lighting to be used on site. 

The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of the 
construction phase of the development. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and for safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers 
of neighbouring properties during the construction works of the development hereby 
approved, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policies S32 of 
the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

6. No development shall commence within the site until the applicant has secured 
the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance with a 
written scheme of investigation which has been submitted by the applicant and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
This written scheme will include the following components: 
i) An archaeological evaluation; 
ii) An archaeological recording programme the scope of which will be dependent 
upon the results of the evaluation; 
iii) Where significant archaeological remains are revealed by the programme of 
archaeological work, a post-excavation assessment and analysis, preparation of a 

Page 46



site archive ready for deposition at a store approved by the Local Planning 
Authority, completion of an archive report, and submission of the results for 
publication in a suitable journal. 

Reason; To afford reasonable opportunity for an examination to be made to determine 
the existence of any remains of archaeological interest within the site and for the 
preservation, examination or recording of such remains).

7. The development shall not commence until visibility splays providing clear visibility 
to the maximum available extents x 2.4 metres measured down the centre of the 
access road and the nearside channel line of the major road have been provided at the 
junction of the access road with the county highway. Notwithstanding the provisions 
of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or 
any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order) relating to permitted development, no 
structure, development , trees, bushes or other plants shall be planted or be permitted 
to grown within the visibility splay which obstruct the visibility splays. The visibility 
splays shall be constructed before general development of the site commences so 
that construction traffic is safeguarded. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

Pre-commencement of certain elements 

8. No part of the A3/A4 (café/public house) development hereby permitted shall be 
commenced until full details of the noise, ventilation and odour control measures to 
be installed (including noise attenuation measures and predicted noise levels at the 
discharge point) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. These measures shall be installed in accordance with the 
approved details and shall be fully operational before first occupation. The measures 
shall be retained as approved and maintained operational for the lifetime of the 
development. 

Reason: In the interests of preserving the amenity of neighbouring residents and occupiers of 
the proposed hotel, in compliance with policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan, (Part 1), 2014.

9. Notwithstanding the submitted details and the provisions of condition 2, no part of 
the development hereby permitted shall be constructed above plinth level until details 
and representative samples of all external and roofing materials have been submitted 
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The materials so approved shall be 
used in the development. 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is compatible with the 
character of the surrounding area, specifically in relation to the setting of heritage assets in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S4 of Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1) Adopted July 2014.

10. Details of the level and specification of the carriageway, footways and footpaths 
within the site shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval before 
these said parts of the development hereby permitted are commenced. These details 
shall be in accordance with the standards laid down in the current Cumbria Design 

Page 47



Guide. These said elements of the development so approved shall be constructed 
before any part of the development is first used and thereafter retained. 

Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction within the approved development in 
the interests of highway safety in accordance with policy S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 
1) Adopted July 2014. 

11. Notwithstanding the submitted details, no part of the development hereby 
permitted shall be built above ground floor level until there has been submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority a scheme of hard and soft 
landscaping which shall include indications of all existing trees and shrubs on the 
site, and details of any to be retained, together with measures for the protection in 
the course of development. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised within the 
scheme shall be carried out in the first planting season following completion of the 
development and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the 
completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with other similar size and 
species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise the 
impact of the development in the locality.

During development 

12. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the remediation 
recommendations outlined in the GIP Site Investigation report dated 5/06/18. A 
verification report confirming their implementation shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior to each respective part of the 
development being brought into use. 

Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any possible 
contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 
2014. 

13. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported 
immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the part of the site 
affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out and submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Where unacceptable risks are 
found remediation and verification schemes shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. These shall be implemented prior to the 
development (or relevant phase of development) being brought into use. All works 
shall be undertaken in accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11. 

Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the development 
to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and 
Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Page 48



14. The drainage for the development hereby approved, shall be carried out in 
accordance with principles set out in the submitted Flood Risk Assessment and 
Drainage Strategy, ref: FRA-17-7223 Issue 3, dated 21/06/2018, proposing surface 
water discharging into watercourse. No surface water will be permitted to drain 
directly or indirectly into the public sewer. Any variation to the discharge of foul 
shall be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
commencement of the development. The development shall be completed in 
accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to prevent an undue increase 
in surface water run-off and to reduce the risk of flooding in accordance with policy S2 of 
the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) Adopted July 2014. 

15. In accordance with the minimum distances specified in the current issue of 
"Sewers for Adoption, no building on the application site shall be sited within :

(i) an access strip width of 10 metres, 5 metres either side of the centre line of each 
existing critical 1200mm diameter public sewers. 
(ii)  an access strip width of 6 metres, 3 metres either side of the centre line of each 
existing 375mm and 150mm sewers.

Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to manage the 
risk of flooding and pollution in accordance with policies S29, S32, S35 and S36 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan 2014.

16. The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the mitigation measures 
specified within the All Ecology Ecological Appraisal prepared by Consultants dated 
January 2018. 

Reason: In the interests of safeguarding ecological interests during the construction works of 
the development hereby approved, in compliance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policy S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

17. The lighting details hereby approved external lighting ref lighting Plot, P9310-
720-c .dated 3/5/18 including their siting, design, levels shall be solely 
implemented and operated in accordance with the approved details.

Reason:  To safeguard the amenity of nearby residential properties from the operational 
use, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

18. Piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods shall not be 
permitted other than with the express written consent of the Local Planning 
Authority, which may be given for those parts of the site where it has been 
demonstrated that there is no resultant unacceptable risk to groundwater. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason To ensure that the proposed piling does not harm groundwater resources

Prior to first use/occupation 

Page 49



19. Before the use commences details of the arrangements for the storage and 
disposal of waste (including bottles) from the premises shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall be 
implemented as approved and retained for the lifetime of the development.

Reason:  In the interests of safeguarding residential and visual amenity of other 
properties in the locality from the operational use of the application site, in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

1. 20. The approved means of enclosure hereby approved shall be constructed prior 
to the approved buildings being brought into use. All means of enclosure so 
constructed shall be retained and no part thereof shall be removed.

2.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is compatible with the 
character of the surrounding area in accordance with Policy S4 of Allerdale Local Plan (Part 
1) Adopted July 2014. 

21. No part of the development hereby approved shall be first used/occupied until the 
parking, loading and unloading, and turning arrangements for that element of the 
development have been constructed in accordance with the approved layout plans. 
The approved parking/loading/turning provision shall thereafter be retained and be 
capable of use when the development is completed and shall not be removed or 
altered without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of parking, loading and turning provision when the 
development is brought into use in accordance with policy S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1) Adopted July 2014. 

22. Prior to occupation of either of the buildings hereby approved, a sustainable 
drainage management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development 
shall be submitted to the local planning authority and agreed in writing. The 
sustainable drainage management and maintenance plan shall include as a 
minimum: 
a. Arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory 
undertaker, or, management and maintenance by a resident’s management 
company; and 
b. Arrangements for inspection and ongoing maintenance of all elements of the 
sustainable drainage system to secure the operation of the surface water drainage 
scheme throughout its lifetime. 

The development shall subsequently be completed, maintained and managed in 
accordance with the approved plan. 
Reason: To ensure that management arrangements are in place for the sustainable 
drainage system in order to manage the risk of flooding and pollution during the lifetime 
of the development.

Following completion and first use 

Page 50



23. The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved Travel Plan. The measures identified in the Travel Plan shall be implemented 
by the operator of the approved hotel within 12 months of the hotel opening for 
business. 

Reason: To aid in the delivery of sustainable transport objectives in accordance with policy 
S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) Adopted July 2014. 

24. The level of noise from the public house premises  shall not exceed NC40 
between the hours of 7.00am and 12.00pm Mondays to Sundays , as measured  1m 
from the façade of the nearest noise sensitive land use on Church Street, 
Workington

Reason:  In the interests of preserving the amenity of neighbouring residents, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

25. With the exception of the external customer areas (beer garden), the public 
house hereby permitted shall be restricted to solely operate between the hours of 
07.00 hrs and 00:00hirs (midnight) on Mondays to Sundays.
Reason: In the interests of preserving the amenity of neighbouring residents, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014

26. With the exception of access, the use of the public house’s external customer 
areas (beer garden) hereby permitted shall be restricted to the hours of operation 
between 07:00hrs and 22:00hrs  Monday to Sunday

Reason: In the interests of preserving the amenity of neighbouring residents, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

27. The drive through cafeteria premises hereby permitted shall be restricted to 
operate solely between the hours of 07.00 and 22.00hrs Monday-Sundays.

Reason: In the interests of preserving the amenity of neighbouring residents, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

28. No deliveries (excluding refuse collection) shall be taken to, or orders 
despatched from any of the premises hereby approved between the hours of 
18:00hrs and 09:00hrs Monday- Saturdays.

Reason: In the interests of preserving the amenity of neighbouring residents, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Page 51



Proactivity Statement - Application Approved Following Revisions

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining 
this application by, primarily identifying relevant development plan policies, any 
duties applicable as well as other material considerations that have been afforded 
weight, including emerging Local Plan policy, stakeholder representations and 
the National Planning Policy Framework.  In this context, having identified 
matters of concern with the application as originally submitted and, if applicable, 
following negotiations with the applicant, acceptable amendments and solutions 
to the proposal have been received.  As a result, the Local Planning Authority has 
been able to grant planning permission for an acceptable proposal.

Annex 2 

Applicant’s sequential site assessment 

Page 52



 

Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Location plan – 1:2500

P
age 56



Location plan 1:7500

P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 58



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application 2/2018/0238

Proposed 
Development:

Erection of rural worker’s dwelling to replace existing residential 
caravan

Location: Moorside Farm
Blooming Heather
Dearham
Mayport

Applicant: Mr R Manchester

Recommendation: REFUSE

Summary/Key Issues

Issue Conclusion

Principle of 
development and 
proven need for a 
rural worker’s 
dwelling

The proposals are considered non-essential residential 
development in the open countryside with no evidence of a proven 
sustainable rural business to support a dwelling and with adverse 
impact upon settlement character.

The applicant has not provided any evidence to discount the 
availability of housing in the settlement as a practical alternative.

Design and Layout Acceptable in itself, but does not avoid the reasons for refusal 
regarding basic principle of development.

Access Acceptable in terms of vehicular traffic using the existing unmade 
track that serves the farm buildings. No intensification of use is 
expected that would affect highway safety

Public Rights of 
Way (PROW)

The two PROW that approach and traverse the site would require 
diversion. This is not considered a reason for refusal with some 
improved accessibility with the farmyard avoided.

Drainage A sustainable drainage strategy has been provided that appears 
achievable subject to further information.

Proposal

Full application for a detached dwelling for a rural worker in the open countryside.

Site 

A farmstead lying within the countryside to the southwest of the Maryport Road, 
Dearham. Access is initially via Blooming Heather, an asphalt surfaced road albeit with 
no footway and then via an unmade, unlit track.

Page 59

Agenda Item 6



Relevant Planning History

Relevant Planning History/Appeals/Court rulings

 Allerdale BC Appeal decision for land at Little Broughton (PINs ref 
APP/G0908/W/17/3183948) which specifically addressed the weighting afforded to 
development plan policies in the context of paragraphs 215 and 14 of the former 
NPPF.

 High Court - Braintree District Council v Secretary of State for Communities and 
Local Government & Others [2017] the High Court judge found that “isolated” 
should be given its ordinary objective meaning of, “far away from other places, 
buildings or people, remote”. 

 Court of Appeal - Braintree DC v SSCLG, Greyread Ltd & Granville Developments 
Ltd [2018] - “…in its particular context in paragraph 55 of the NPPF, the word 
‘isolated’ in the phrase ‘isolated homes in the countryside’ simply connotes a 
dwelling that is physically separate or remote from a settlement…”

Representations

Dearham Parish Council

No objections

Cumbria County Highway Authority/Local Lead Flood Authority 

No Objections

ABC Environmental Health 

No objections subject to contaminated land conditions

United Utilities

No objections subject to conditions

Footpaths Officer

No objections in principle

Other representations

The application has been advertised on site and in the local press regarding impact on a 
public right of way. Adjoining and nearby landowners where known have been notified. 
One letter of representation has been received regarding upgrade to the access track.

Page 60



Relevant Development Plan Policies

Allerdale Local Plan 1999 (Saved settlement limits)

Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 Adopted 2014

Policy DM2 - Rural workers dwellings
Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy S2 - Sustainable development principles
Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth
Policy S30 - Reuse of Land
Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity
Policy S33 - Landscape
Policy S4 - Design principles
Policy S5 - Development Principles

Other Material Considerations

NPPF (Revised 2018)

Policy weighting 

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard 
is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made 
under the planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local 
Plan 1999 saved settlement limits and the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 
policies have primacy.

A material consideration is the provisions of the revised NPPF. Paragraph 213 of the 
revised NPPF (2018) advises that the weight afforded to development plan policies can 
vary according to their degree of consistency with this framework (the closer the policies 
in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given). 

The Allerdale Local Plan (part 1) policies pre-date the revised NPPF and therefore full 
weight can only be afforded to those policies that are considered consistent with the 
revised NPPF.  The majority of policies are considered to remain consistent. However, 
having regard to a further material consideration – the appeal decision for land at Little 
Broughton (PINs ref APP/G0908/W/17/3183948), it is considered that policies S3 and S5 
of the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 are out of date and can no longer carry 
full weight insofar as they relate to the application of the existing settlement limits which 
date from the 1999 Plan and housing numbers.  The provisions of paragraph 11 of the 
NPPF 2018 are and the tilted balance are therefore engaged.

However, this does not mean to say that other Local Plan Part 1 policies are out of date 
and should not be afforded substantial or full weight where they are consistent with the 

Page 61



provisions of the NPPF 2018. In this instance, it is assessed that the settlement hierarchy 
within policy S3 can be afforded substantial weight given its consistency with the 
sustainability principles of the NPPF 2018 as can the criteria a) to f) of policy S5. Other 
polices within the Part 1 Local Plan maintain their full weight.

Assessment

Sustainability

Local Plan policy S1 ‘Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development’ confirms that 
“the Council will take a positive approach... in favour of sustainable development” and 
that it will “secure development that improves the economic, social and environmental 
conditions in the area...”  It also replicates paragraph 14 of the now superseded 2012 
NPPF, now found under paragraph 11c and d. i.e. whether or not “any adverse impacts 
of granting permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits”.

Local Plan policy S3 ‘Spatial Strategy and Growth’ considers the provision of housing 
over the plan period and sets out the settlement hierarchy.

Policy DM2 relates to Policy S3 to allow rural workers’ dwellings beyond settlements 
where there is a proven need.

The site is beyond any settlement and in open countryside.

It is accepted that the settlement limit is now “out of date,” this being because the 
Council’s Housing Strategy detailed in our 2014 Part 1 Local Plan is now within the 
medium term of the Plan period.

In this term housing was expected to come forward via housing allocations in Part 2 of 
the Local Plan. These have yet to come to fruition and, in advance of them, the Council 
need land to come forward beyond the settlement limits. Little weight is therefore 
afforded to the settlement limits and, indeed, policies S3 and S5 of Part 1 of the Local 
Plan insofar as they relate to these limits and housing numbers. The judgement is, 
therefore, based upon the “tilted balance” within the National Planning Policy Framework 
2018. Effectively, any impacts need to be significantly and demonstrably adverse when 
assessed against the benefits of providing a dwelling to justify a refusal. 

With regard to the Braintree caselaw referenced above, it is a fact that the site is not 
isolated and particularly when it is set against the Oxford Concise English Dictionary 
definition of isolated i.e. “far away from other places, buildings or people; remote". 
However, it is illogical to conclude that, just because a site is not isolated, that it becomes 
sustainable in all other respects. The site is some 260 metres from the nearest dwelling 
at Blooming Heather on the edge of the settlement of Dearham and 390 metres from the 
public highway (Maryport Road A594). It is only accessible by an unmade, unlit track. 
Furthermore, medical and educational facilities are over 1km distance. In reality, the trips 
undertaken, especially during winter and times of inclement weather, are going to be 
made by car. Such substantial reliance on car borne trips is not sustainable. Journeys by 
car are not minimised. As such there are significant demonstrable impacts in terms of the 
unsuitability of the site. 

Page 62



It therefore falls whether there are any benefits arising from the development that, when 
the tilted balance is applied, result in the proposal being acceptable.

Agricultural Appraisal 

In this instance, the proposals have come forward with an agricultural appraisal that 
attempts to justify an essential need for a rural worker with regard to Policy DM2 and 
therefore to meet the exceptions within ALP Policy S3 and paragraph 79 of the NPPF. 
The appraisal is summarised and assessed as follows regarding the justification for a 
permanent dwelling.

The applicant has presented a case that there is a functional need for a dwelling to 
support a full time rural worker with regard to the care and management of breeding 
horses and other ancillary agricultural work.

The business as it stands concentrates on the specialist breeding of heavy horses. The 
existing caravan at the site is the current home of the applicant who has offered signed 
letters from local people to substantiate his claim of occupation in excess of 10 years.

Current stock levels are reported as follows

 Three stallions, (Shire, Clydesdale and Cob)
 Nine mares with three currently in foal.
 Breeding sows.
 Chickens for eggs and turkeys at winter. 
 Five breeding pygmy goats
 Twenty six hens, with the eggs produced being sold from the site. 

Furthermore, due to the quality of the stallions which are under the applicant’s ownership, 
they are extremely popular with visiting mares from all over Britain and Europe. Mares 
are able to be left on site with the applicant all year round and stay on the site for 
anywhere between one week and three months. The applicant is able to accommodate 
12 visiting mares at any one time.

Applicant’s submission - Workforce & Hours of Work 

Typically, the applicant is required to start his day at around 4.30am to tend to the horses 
and other animals prior to leaving the site for his other work. Between 7.30am and 3pm, 
the applicant is off site working for Cumbria County Council and so the applicant’s 
parents are on site and work the farm during the day. 

Upon returning to the site, he is then required to continue working with the animals, and 
usually works from 3.30pm up until around 9pm. Due to being off site during the day time, 
he is required to work full days on weekends between 7am and 9pm on Saturdays, and 
7am until 3pm on Sunday. 

In total, the applicant works 37.5 hours per week for Cumbria County Council, and 54 
hours per week on the farm. The farm is therefore the applicant’s main form of 
employment in terms of hours.

Page 63



Applicant’s Business Plan

The applicant is restricted in the type of work he can do with the horses at the moment 
due to his financial reliance on his existing County Council employment.

However, as the business has increased, he is receiving additional income that is 
allowing him to become less dependent on his County Council employment. 

In future, the applicant is planning the following activities in order to increase the income 
from the business and allowing him to reduce his hours at County Council and eventually 
cease work there. 
The business plan includes:- 

 Carriage work with the stallions e.g. weddings, proms etc.

 Horses are used to cut the grass within SSSI areas

 Removing wood from difficult to access woodland 

 Breaking horses in

Based upon the above, the applicant claims that there is a need for a permanent dwelling 
on site as the business has operated for more than three years and maintaining a steady 
profit satisfying Policy DM2. The existing caravan accommodation is cramped and 
unsuitable and a dwelling will provide far better accommodation for himself and his family 
of three children who also contribute and have a future in the business.

The applicant maintains that there is a proven functional need for a dwelling with the 
labour requirement at the site required at all times to ensure the appropriate and 
specialist care of the breeding horses, mares and their foals.

The applicant claims that a dwelling will provide a permanent base to help him to expand 
and intensify his business with the emphasis on the specialist breeding of working 
horses.

The appraisal claims that the business has been sustainable over three years and that a 
dwelling is justified to secure the future growth of the enterprise and provide appropriate 
accommodation for his family.

The applicant has provided brief financial accounts for the last three years. 

Assessment of need

Planning Officers have considered the appraisal and have judged that, based upon the 
information provided, there is evidence of a rural business to some degree but on a 
limited scale.

Officers note the declining income and profit of the applicant’s accounts and the reliance 
on his other income from his full time employment at County Council. In this context 

Page 64



officers are not convinced that this is an established and sustainable enterprise on a 
scale that warrants the approval of a permanent dwelling under policies DM2 and S3. 
The criteria within Policy DM2 have not been fully achieved.

The applicant claims residence at the site in the caravan for a ten year period but this 
does not in itself provide the necessary justification. The caravan is indeed on site, albeit 
without the benefit of planning permission. In the absence of a Certificate of Lawful 
Development, one cannot robustly conclude that this use is lawful and should be afforded 
weight as a material consideration. Indeed, an application for a Certificate of Lawfulness 
would be the appropriate method for testing, on the balance of probabilities, as to 
whether the use was lawful. As such the proposal cannot be considered as a 
replacement dwelling. Although the applicant puts significant emphasis on the current 
caravan to justify a functional need there is a far bigger picture regarding the assessment 
of the application regarding the sustainability of the rural business and the applicant’s full 
time employment away from the farm.

Despite the long hours that the applicant works at the farm, his main employment is 
clearly that at County Council regarding commitment and level of income. This is a key 
factor within development plan policy that the occupancy of such a dwelling should be 
that of a person mainly or solely working in the qualifying business. The attendance on 
site by his parents does not overcome this.

The relevant policies also require that other dwellings in the locality that may be available 
should first be considered. 
 No information has been provided as to why such housing within Dearham has not been 
considered by the applicant as a practical alternative.

In short, it is considered that the appraisal does not demonstrate a proven functional 
need for a permanent dwelling for the applicant who works elsewhere on full-time basis 
to provide an income that effectively sustains the business. There is a dependence on 
others when he does not attend the farm. Furthermore the declining and haphazard 
income and profit from the enterprise only serves to give a picture of a part-time ‘casual 
business’ with no sustainable credentials to support a full time income and an associated 
dwelling.

In summary, in the absence of a defined need, there is negligible benefit arising from the 
delivery of a single dwelling in this unsustainable location.

Layout

The proposed layout is, in general terms, acceptable with adequate parking and amenity 
space with no relationship to other dwellings an issue. This does not avoid the reasons 
for refusal as reported above regarding the principle of development

Design and Appearance/Landscape Impact

A two storey dwelling of generic design has been offered by the applicant with a 
floorspace of 188 square metres not exceeding 200 square metres which is the Council’s 
general threshold limit for a rural worker’s dwelling.

Page 65



However, the proposal site is considered to be sporadic development in this rural locality 
that would adversely impact on the character and appearance of the area.  Policy S4 
‘Design Principles’ states that achieving high quality design for all development is a key 
objective of the Local Plan. Policy DM14 ‘Standards of Good Design’ sets out guidance 
on housing density, design and layout of new development and landscaping within a 
development. Policy S33 ‘Landscape’ also requires landscape character and local 
distinctiveness to be protected, conserved and where possible enhanced.
It therefore will neither enhance nor restore the existing landscape character. The 
scheme is considered to have an adverse effect on the landscape by reason of its 
detached siting in a surrounding environment characterised by open countryside. 

Highway safety

Access to the site is by an unmade track from a junction with Maryport Road, Dearham. 
The track also serves the dwellings of Blooming Heather for access and parking at its 
widest point. The surface deteriorates and the track narrows nearer to the application site 
and shares the route of the PROW.

It is considered that there will be no significant intensification of use and the access and 
visibility splays as existing are acceptable to the Highway Authority. 

Public Right of Way (PROW)

As reported above, the access track is a PROW that reaches the site and continues 
through it across the footprint of the proposed dwelling. A diversion order would be 
required should the development be approved and go ahead.

The PROW is not defined through the farm yard and across the development site and 
appears little or rarely used. The Public Rights of Way Officer does not object and the 
diversion would arguably improve accessibility avoiding the farmyard.

Drainage

Foul drainage is planned as a private treatment plant with surface water to soakaway. 
Further details would be required by condition should the application be approved to 
demonstrate a sustainable solution. United Utilities accept the strategy in principle.

The Local Lead Flood Authority does not object.

Contamination

Allerdale Environmental Protection has responded with no objection subject to standard 
contaminated land conditions as former mining evident within 250 metres close to a High 
Risk area regarding the British Coal.

This does not avoid the reasons for refusal as reported above regarding the principle of 
development.

Page 66



Ecology

The site has little habitat potential with little ground cover and sparse hedgerow 
boundaries. As such, consistent with previous applications, no further assessment is 
required.

Conclusion and balance.

For the reasons above, the application cannot be supported in that the dwelling 
constitutes non-essential development in the open countryside with no proven 
sustainable rural business associated with the site. The dwelling will bring adverse 
impact regarding settlement character and the negligible benefits of one dwelling are 
substantially and demonstrably outweighed by the harm. The application does not fully 
satisfy Policy DM2 or qualify for any exception within Policy S3 of the ALP or paragraph 
79 of the NPPF.

Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act, there are matters with 
regard to the New Homes Bonus Scheme and Council Tax Revenue and Business. This 
has carried no weight in the determination

.

Page 67



Annex 1

Reasons

The proposals are considered non-essential residential development in the open 
countryside with no conclusive evidence of a proven sustainable rural business to 
comply with Policies S3 and DM2 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 Adopted 2014 
and Paragraph 79 of the NPPF 2018.

The applicant has not provided any evidence to discount the availability of 
housing in the settlement as a practical alternative contrary to Policy S3 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 Adopted 2014 and Paragraph 79 of the NPPF 2018.

The adverse impacts of permitting this unsustainable development, detached 
away from the settlement and in the open countryside with significant harm to 
settlement character would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefit of 
providing just one dwelling, when assessed against the policies in the Local Plan 
2014 and the NPPF 2018 taken as a whole.

Proactivity Statement

1) Application Refused Following Discussion – Where there is no Way 
Forward

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by assessing the proposal against, primarily, the development plan 
policies, any duties applicable and also all material considerations, including 
emerging Local Plan policy, the National Planning Policy Framework and any 
stakeholder representations that may have been received. In this context, having 
identified matters of concern with the proposal and discussed those with the 
applicant, the issues are so fundamental to the proposal that it has not been 
possible to negotiate a satisfactory way forward and, due to the harm which has 
been clearly identified within the reason(s) for the refusal, approval has not been 
possible.

Page 68



Location plan

P
age 69



Location plan showing larger view

P
age 70



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application HOU/2018/0161

Proposed 
Development:

Replacement windows and doors

Location: 43
Curzon Street
Maryport

Applicant: Mr Allen Hewetson Jones
Ministry Of Defence

Recommendation: REFUSE

Summary/Key Issues

Issue Conclusion

Heritage  The proposal will neither preserve nor enhance the character and 
appearance of the designated conservation area as a result of the 
harm from the proposed interventions to the façade facing Curzon 
Street. There will be consequent harm to the significance of this 
designated heritage asset which is not outweighed by any public 
benefits

Proposal

Full planning permission is sought for the replacement of existing wooden single glazed 
& double UPVC windows into double and triple glazed UPVC windows. The proposal 
also includes the replacement of existing timber basement door to the front elevation and 
replacement of UPVC and timber door to the rear with UPVC doors.  

Site

The site compromises of a 3 storey traditional terraced dwelling with basement level on 
the east side of Curzon Street within Maryport’s Conservation Area. The site is also 
protected by an Article 4 direction. 

Relevant Planning History

None 

Representations

Maryport Town Council 

Page 71

Agenda Item 7



No Objections, subject to design. Site visit requested

Cumbria County Highways

No comments to make 

Other representations

A site notice has been erected, adjoining owners have been notified and press notice   
placed in local newspaper, following this no further representations have been received 
to date.  

Duties 

Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states 
that:
 
“In the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation area, of any 
powers under any of the provisions mentioned in subsection (2), special attention shall 
be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that 
area.’

Development Plan policies 

 Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) July 2014

           DM15 - Extensions and alterations to existing buildings and properties
           S2 - Sustainable development principles
           S27 - Heritage Assets
           S32 - Safeguarding amenity  

Other material considerations

 National Planning Policy Framework 2018 

           16. Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

 National Planning Practice Guidance 

Page 72



Duties and policy weighting 

Annex 2 of the NPPF 2018 defines designated heritage assets as:-

“A World Heritage Site, Scheduled Monument, Listed Building, Protected Wreck Site, 
Registered Park and Garden, Registered Battlefield or Conservation Area designated 
under the relevant legislation.” 

The Maryport Conservation Area is therefore a designated heritage asset, the Authority 
having a duty to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of this area.1

Policy S27 of the Local Plan advises that the Council will work with partners to seek the 
conservation and enhancement of all designated or non-designated heritage assets 
within the Plan Area. In determining applications that affect the significance of a heritage 
asset, the following factors will be taken into account:-

 The level of significance of the heritage asset.
 The impact of the proposal on the significance of the asset.
 How the significance of the asset could be better revealed.
 Opportunities for mitigating climate change without damaging significance.

Only proposals which do not harm any positive qualities of the heritage assets will be 
approved unless there is a clear and convincing public benefit that will outweigh the harm 
caused. This criterion of policy S27 has general consistency with the provisions of the 
revised NPPF, despite predating the latter by 4 years. Paragraph 196 of the revised 
NPPF advises:-

“Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance 
of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits 
of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.”

Criterion a) of policy DM15 is more generic, but still applicable in terms of the 
requirement for the design and materials of the development not to adversely alter the 
appearance of the building. It is consistent with paragraph 130 of the NPPF as is the 9th 
bullet point of the environmental sustainability principles of policy S2. 

Assessment 

Significance 

Curzon Street is Maryport’s main thoroughfare (A594) and, due to the relatively heavy 
traffic flows, slowed or momentarily halted by traffic lights, the buildings that line the 
street prominently define the character and appearance of this area of the town.

1 S72 Listed Buildings Act 1990. 

Page 73



The terraces on the eastern side of the street were mostly built as large residential 
properties, they have distinctive architectural detailing including rock faced sandstone, 
cornices and dentils, carved sandstone window surrounds, with cornices and other 
decorative detail.   Most of the first floor windows, including those at no 43, have arched 
top sashes which are a particularly distinctive architectural detail within the street.

There are some subtle variations; most have ground floor canted bay windows, but not 
all. Some have gabled dormers breaking the wall plate, others have hipped roofs. 
However, the terraces clearly read as a group and were planned as such with the 
common era of origin, facing materials, building lines and architectural language. What is 
most evident is the originality of the terraces; the completeness of the original 
appearance and detailing.

This originality of theses terraces on the east side of Curzon Street contributes 
substantially to the significance of the Maryport conservation area. Indeed, in terms of the 
Victorian terraces within the town, these are the most original. The survival of timber 
vertical sliding sash windows is fundamental to this significance, protected by the article 4 
direction.

The rear elevation is much less prominent. The passageway serving the rear gardens 
and yards is adopted but it is clear that interventions and change have characterised the 
view from this receptor. The limited views and secondary, subservient nature of these 
elevations mean that there contribution to the overall significance of the asset is far more 
limited. 

Impact and harm

The existing timber windows within the ground floor bay and upper floors on the front 
elevation are devoid of glazing bars but, nevertheless, have a finesse that would be 
lacking in the particular proposed plastic windows. The frame and transom are simple but 
fine in section, the sashes also including cyma moulded horns. 
The submitted sectional and detailing drawings for the proposed sashes possess none of 
this finesse; there are chunky frames and “Stick on dummy transoms.” Furthermore, the 
gloss, plain, lack of textured finish will contrast markedly with the timber of the window 
surrounds and the other frames within the terrace. 
As a result these proposed changes will appear clumsy and completely out of keeping 
with the character and appearance of the façade of the terrace. Given the originality of 
the façade, there will be harm. Given that the conservation area extends over a wide 
area the harm is probably less than substantial but still significant.

For the rear windows, the harm will be minimal but the proposal must be considered as a 
whole.

Public benefits

There are no public benefits arising from the proposal. There is a common perception 
that plastics windows can assist in providing better thermal efficiency for the home but 
there is no robust evidence to suggest that this is the case in comparison to a timber 
window with modern draught proofing inserted or, if it can be justified, a new timber sash 
window with the same level of finesse and craftsmanship as the original. Furthermore, 

Page 74



there are also the embedded energy costs associated with the production of a 
replacement plastic window. As such there are no benefits of mitigating climate change 
arising from the proposal or, indeed any other tangible benefit.

Balance and conclusions 

The proposal will neither preserve nor enhance the character and appearance of the 
designated conservation area as a  result of the harm from the proposed interventions to 
the façade facing Curzon Street. There will be consequent harm to the significance of this 
designated heritage asset which is not outweighed by any public benefits. The proposal 
would be contrary to policies S2, DM15 and S27 of the adopted Allerdale Local Plan Part 
1 (2014) and the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework 2018. In addition, 
if the proposal were to be approved, it would set an undesirable precedent for similar 
proposals within Curzon Street.

Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will have no 
local financial consideration.

Page 75



Annex 1

Reasons for refusal 

The proposal will neither preserve nor enhance the character and appearance of the 
designated conservation area as a  result of the harm from the proposed interventions to 
the façade facing Curzon Street. There will be consequent harm to the significance of this 
designated heritage asset which is not outweighed by any public benefits. The proposal 
would be contrary to policies S2, DM15 and S27 of the adopted Allerdale Local Plan Part 
1 (2014) and the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework 2018. In addition, 
if the proposal were to be approved, it would set an undesirable precedent for similar 
proposals within Curzon Street.

Proactivity Statement 
 

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining 
this application by assessing the proposal against, primarily, the development 
plan policies, any duties applicable and also all material considerations including 
emerging Local Plan policy, the National Planning Policy Framework and any 
stakeholder representations that may have been received. In this context, the 
Local Planning Authority has determined the application within a timely manner, 
clearly setting out the reason(s) for refusal, allowing the Applicant the opportunity 
to consider the harm caused and whether or not it can be remedied by a revision 
to the proposal.  The Local Planning Authority is willing to meet with the Applicant 
to discuss the best course of action and is also willing to provide, without 
prejudice, pre-application advice in respect of any future application for a revised 
development.  

Page 76



Location plan

P
age 77



Location plan showing larger view

P
age 78


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 2.2018.0292 - Proposed mixed use development consisting of a hotel (Use Class C1) with associated coffee shop (Class A3) unit and public house/restaurant (Use Class A3/A4), along with associated access, parking, landscaping, drainage and ancillary wo
	6 2.2018.0238 - Erection of rural workers dwelling to replace existing residential caravan - Moorside Farm, Blooming Heather, Dearham, Mayport
	7 HOU.2018.0161 - Replacement windows - 43, Curzon Street, Maryport

